


CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED 
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and 
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other 
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of 
the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to 
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized 
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible 
to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the 
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the 
contents of this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and 
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the 
whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of CHINA PRIMARY ENERGY HOLDINGS 
LIMITED (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars 
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange 
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The 
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief 
the information contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and 
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any 
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

It is my pleasure to present the annual results of China Primary Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”)

together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Operation

With the COVID-19 pandemic substantially came to an end in 2023, the world economy has begun to 

recover. Nevertheless, in 2023, the political and trade conflicts between the People’s Republic of China (the 

“PRC”) and the United States of America (the “USA”) was becoming more intensive. Most of the business 

sectors doing international businesses are being affected. However, I am please to announce that such 

adverse effect to the Group was minimized as our major businesses were operating in the PRC and basically 

all our customers are located in the PRC.

The Group continued to strengthen its core businesses and operated in locations in Yichang, Fujian and 

Auhui of the PRC in 2023. In Yichang, the investment properties of the industrial park were totally let out. 

These investment properties continued to contribute stable rental income and cash inflow to the Group. 

Moreover, the construction of the clean energy business in Yichang was completed and will commence its 

operation in 2024. With our experience in the energy sector and strong partner, we believe we can develop 

another successful clean energy operation in Yichang. The cooperation with Beijing Jingneng Clean Energy 

Co. Ltd is smooth and the cooperation represents a strong foundation of clean energy business of the 

Group. We are optimistic that the natural gas combined heat and power cogeneration project can provide 

significant contribution to the Group soon.

The natural gas segment performed well and the transmission and distribution of natural gas continued to be 

the core business segment of the Group in 2023. Natural gas is currently the major clean energy that most 

countries, include the PRC, in the world are using and the extent of usage is growing rapidly. In recent 

years, the PRC government has announced its policy to encourage businesses and citizens to use clean 

energy in which natural gas is one of the most promoted energy. The policy has benefited the Group’s 

natural gas business in the PRC. In 2023, the Group mainly operated natural gas business in Fujian and 

Wuhu. As mentioned above, Yichang will be another major natural gas business location of the Group in 

2024.

The biomass gasification heating plant and relevant facilities in Huaining County, Anhui Province was 

growing stable. This is another segment of our clean energy business. Biomass gasification heating is a 

relative new kind of energy business in the PRC and we are optimistic that such business will be well 

developed, especially the demand of heat energy is high in Anhui Province.
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Results

The revenue of the Group in 2023 remained stable and was similar to 2022. Apart form the impairments of 

certain asset this year and the extraordinary gain on disposal in 2022, the result of the Group in 2023 was 

performing as expected. When all the negative factors are gone, I believe we will perform much better in 

2024.

Future Development

With years of restructure and development, the Group is heading for the right direction. Clean energy 

business is and will continue to be our core business. We are expanding our market share in the industry 

and is looking for every opportunity to growth, both in the PRC and in Hong Kong.

As mentioned above, our business of natural gas distribution and property investment rely more customers’ 

internal demand and natural gas is a necessity resource. Thus the impact from global political and economic 

environment is not so direct. The Company will closely monitor the situation and assess if there is any impact 

on the Group’s operations and operating results.

Being the Chairman of the Company, I will continue to lead the Board and monitor the management to 

achieve our goal. I strongly believe that with the continuous efforts and support of the management team 

and business partners, the target of the Group is to become one of the leading clean energy operators in 

certain cities and areas of the PRC. In the meantime, as mentioned several times before, we are still 

investigating for every possible investing opportunities to increase the Company’s value. In this respect, I 

can assure you that the shareholders’ return will be increased in the near future.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, fellow directors, 

staff, customers, suppliers, professional advisers and business partners for their ongoing support and 

contributions. 2023 was an uneasy year and 2024 will definitely a challenging year but, with the strong 

commitment and contribution from all of you, I believe the Group can achieve its goal.

MA ZHENG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

Total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased slightly by 0.7% when 

compared to the corresponding period in 2022. Such slight decrease was mainly due to the relative weak 

performance of Renminbi in 2023 as the revenue figure in Renminbi in 2023 actually slightly higher than 

2022. The COVID-19 pandemic substantially came to an end in 2023, the world economy has begun to 

recover. Nevertheless, in 2023, the political and trade conflicts between the People’s Republic of China (the 

“PRC”) and the United States of America (the “USA”) was becoming more intensive. However, the result of 

the Group was not adversely affect due to the increase in demand of the clean energy in the PRC which was 

an important factor that motivated the growth of the natural gas business of the Group.

The natural gas business is still the core business of the Group. Operation of the natural gas business 

segment continued to be stable in 2023. The government of the PRC is implementing the policies to 

encourage the use of clean energy in the PRC and the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) 

considered the prospect of natural gas business is bright. Those policies included the use of natural gas for 

vehicles and industrial users, the set up of the natural gas network department, etc. The Group operated the 

natural gas business in various areas and provinces in the PRC in 2023. Our customers are mostly industrial 

customers. As a new operation, the construction of the clean energy business in Yichang was completed 

and will likely to commence its operation in 2024 and contribute revenue and profit to the Group.

The biomass gasification heating supply business in Huaining County, Anhui Province grew stable in 2023. 

With the great demand of heat supply in the relevant area in Huaining County, the Group expects the 

segment will generate considerable revenue for the Group. In 2023, part of the factory construction was not 

yet finished, the revenue generated was not able to cover the operating costs yet. At such, loss was incurred 

in 2023 for this segment. The situation is expected to be improved upon the completion of the construction 

which leads to full operation and increase in revenue of this segment.

The property investment business in Yichang contributed stable cash inflow to the Group during the year 

under review. The area of our investment properties is the industrial park for manufacturing of vehicle which 

was developed by the Yichang government. Therefore, all of our tenants are manufacturers of vehicle parts. 

Since the industry is supported and developed by the Yichang government, we believe the property 

investment business will continue to be one of the major segments of the Group.

The negative effect of the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to affect the global economy and to most of the 

industries for certain period of time. The recovery of the world economy takes time. Luckily, the impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic to the Group was not so direct and significant as our business of natural gas 

distribution and property investment relied more on customers’ internal demand and natural gas is necessity. 

Nevertheless, the Company will closely monitor the situation and assess if there is any impact on the Group’s 

operations and operating results.

In view of the unstable global political and economic condition, the Board and management will be more 

careful and prudent in managing the operations of the Group. In the meantime, the Board has been 

exploring possible investing opportunities to increase the Company’s value.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Total revenue was approximately HK$183,442,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, which represented 

a decrease of approximately 0.7% when compared with last year’s total revenue of approximately 

HK$184,683,000. The Board believes that revenue of the Group will be improved with the growing of the 

clean energy business, especially the Yichang operation in 2024.

During the year under review, audited loss before income tax was approximately HK$17,083,000 (2022: loss 

of approximately HK$8,311,000). The loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately 

HK$17,500,000 (2022: loss of approximately HK$9,855,000). The loss was increased when compared to the 

corresponding period of last year mainly because of approximately HK$9,426,000 gain on disposal of assets 

classified as held for sale in 2022. In the current economic environment, the Board will continue to exercise 

stringent cost control and maintain a low and effective overheads structure and prudently utilise the Group’s 

corporate resources to create wealth for the shareholders.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

From 2024 onwards, the Board is optimistic that the Group will perform much better with the expansion of 

the energy segment. Currently, the energy segment mainly consists of the natural gas business and biomass 

gasification heating business. The Group has developed a natural gas sales network of certain scale. The 

network is still expanding and with the clean energy policy carried out by the PRC government, the 

management believes the natural gas business will grow steadily under the current economic environment 

and significant revenue will be contributed by the natural gas business. The energy segment will expand 

and continue to be the core business segment of the Group.

The land and properties in Yichang will continue to be let out to generate rental income.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, net assets of the Group were approximately HK$300,614,000 (2022: approximately 

HK$335,418,000) while its total assets were approximately HK$755,286,000 (2022: approximately 

HK$738,521,000) including cash and bank balances of approximately HK$30,644,000 (2022: approximately 

HK$33,159,000).

FUNDING ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

The Company did not carry out any fund raising activities during the year under review.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, current assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$108,196,000 which 

included cash and bank balances of approximately HK$216,000 and approximately RMB27,655,000 

(equivalent to HK$30,428,000), while current liabilities stood at approximately HK$125,551,000. The Group 

has borrowings of approximately HK$345,427,000. Equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted 

to approximately HK$254,572,000. In this regard, the Group was in a net assets position and had a gearing 

ratio of approximately 136% (borrowings to equity attributable to owners of the Company) as of 31 

December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES

Sales and payment of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group’s 

cash and bank deposits were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB, and the business is 

mainly operated in the PRC. The only foreign currency exposure comes mainly from the funds movement 

between Hong Kong and the PRC. Exchange risk is not significant as the Group conducts business in PRC 

and does not have import and export business. No hedging or other alternatives had been implemented for 

foreign currency exposure. However, the Group will continue to monitor closely the exchange rate 

movements and will enter into hedging arrangements in future if necessary.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s investment properties and land and buildings were pledged 

as security for the Group’s bank borrowing, and the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in 

Note 7 to this financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The ordinary shares of the Company were initially listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13 December 

2001. As at 31 December 2023, the issued share capital of the Company was made up of 1,023,987,439 

ordinary shares of HK$0.0625 each.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED 
COMPANIES

Save as disclosed above, there was no other material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated 

companies during the year under review.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS/FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group did not made any significant investment during the year ended 31 December 2023. No material 

plan for future investment was noted as at the date of this annual report.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 9 full-time employees working in Hong Kong and 169 full-time 

employees working in the PRC. Total employees’ remuneration (including Directors’ remuneration) for the 

year under review amounted to approximately HK$21,038,000. The Group remunerates its employees based 

on their performance, experience and the prevailing industry practice.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year under review, none of the Directors, significant shareholders, substantial shareholders and 

any of their respective associates had engaged in any business that competed or might compete directly or 

indirectly, with the business of the Group, or had or might have any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

For the description of the duty and work of the Audit Committee, please refer to the section “Audit 

Committee” in the Directors’ report on page 20.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

The Company had not redeemed any of its ordinary shares during the year ended 31 December 2023. 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company’s ordinary 

shares during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the code provisions set out in the Code 

contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules, with the exception of the following code 

provision for the year ended 31 December 2023:

Code Provision C.2.1

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and 

should not be performed by the same individual.

For the year 2023, the Company did not have an officer with the title of “Chief Executive”. The Code 

envisages that the management of the Board should rest with the Chairman, whereas the day-to-day 

management of the Company’s business should rest with the Chief Executive. Ms. Ma Zheng, the Chairman, 

is also a director of some of the Company’s operating subsidiaries. This constitutes a deviation of Code 

Provision C.2.1. The Board holds the view that this arrangement is appropriate for the Company but the 

Company does not compromise accountability and independent decision making for this since the Company 

has an audit committee, all members of which are independent non-executive Directors, to help to ensure 

the accountability and independence of Ms. Ma Zheng.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Directors

Ms. Ma Zheng, aged 57

Chairman and Executive Director

Ms. Ma joined the Group in February 2004. She is currently the chairman and the major shareholder of the 

Company. Ms. Ma has over 34 years of experience in international trade, electronic industry and corporation 

management. She graduated from Wuhan University majoring in construction structure engineering.

Mr. Yuan Geng, aged 58

Executive Director

Mr. Yuan joined the Group in 2013 as the Vice President of the Company and Executive President of the 

mainland group. Mr. Yuan has appointed as executive director of the Company on 18 February 2021. He 

holds a doctor of engineering degree and a master degree in management. Mr. Yuan has over 33 years of 

experience of operating and technical management in the energy sector and he is currently an executive 

director of the China Gas Society. Mr. Yuan had worked for a Hong Kong listed company – China Gas 

Holdings Limited as chief engineer, and various energy related companies in the PRC prior to his joining the 

Group. He is also the compliance officer of the Company.

Mr. Ji Jianghua, aged 44

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ji joined the Group in June 2018. Mr. Ji joined China Vanke Co., Ltd.# (“China Vanke”) (Shenzhen Stock 

Exchange: stock code 000002, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: stock code 2202) in May 2005 

and is now the deputy general manager of the board of directors’ office of China Vanke. Before joining China 

Vanke, he worked as a researcher at Shanghai Jinxin Securities Research Institute Co., Ltd. from August 

2004 to May 2005. Mr. Ji graduated from the Tianjin Institute of Finance and Economics (currently Tianjin 

University of Finance and Economics) in 2001 with a Bachelor’s degree in Management. He graduated from 

Shanghai University in 2004 with a Master’s degree in Economics.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 59

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Wan joined the Group in March 2004. Mr. Wan holds a bachelor degree of commerce and a master 

degree of business administration. Mr. Wan has years of experience in accounting and financial 

management and has worked for international accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is a 

fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Certified Practising Accountant 

of CPA Australia. Mr. Wan is currently an executive director and chief financial officer of Sino Oil and Gas 

Holdings Limited (stock code: 702) which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited.

Mr. Chung Chin Keung, aged 56

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Chung joined the Group in February 2008. Mr. Chung holds a bachelor degree in Business 

Administration from the Hong Kong Baptist University and a master degree in Business Administration from 

Manchester Business School. Mr. Chung is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member 

of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of The Taxation Institute of 

Hong Kong. He has more than 31 years of experience in finance, accounting and management. Mr. Chung 

is currently the financial controller and company secretary of China Financial Services Holdings Limited, a 

company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Sung Ren Keh, aged 60

Independent Non-executive Director (appointed on 1 March 2023)

Mr. Sung Ren Keh holds a master degree of engineering in manufacturing management from University of 

South Australia and a bachelor degree in mechanical engineering from Chung Cheng Institute of 

Technology, Taiwan. He has over 19 years of management and operating experience in new energy and 

wireless communication domain from companies in the PRC, USA and Taiwan. He was the vice chairman of 

Ningbo Shanshan Bada Power Train Co., Ltd., and was a manufacturing consultant of 24M technologies Inc., 

USA for semi-solid Li battery factory design in the PRC.

Senior management

Mr. Wong Chun Sing, aged 53

Financial Controller and Company Secretary

Mr. Wong joined the Group in April 2008. Mr. Wong holds a master degree in business administration. 

He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member 

of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of management 

experience in the accounting and finance sector and he had worked for an international accounting firm, 

listed companies and securities and finance companies in Hong Kong.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2023.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Company and its subsidiaries are 

principally engaged in (i) transmission and distribution of natural gas; (ii) sales of heat and biomass 

gasification related products; and (iii) property investment in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of its 

subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the 

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segment is set out in 

Note 7 to the financial statements.

Business review and future development

Business review of the operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and outlook and future 

prospects are set out in the separate Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG”) Report 2023 (the 

“ESG Report”) and the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” 

and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

The above sections or reference form part of the Directors’ Report.

Results and appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state of affairs of the Group and the 

Company at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 41 to 118.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend.

Share capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in Note 33 to the 

financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 44 to the financial statements, respectively.

Distributable reserves

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had no retained profit available for distribution to 

shareholders of the Company. However, in accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands and the 

Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”), the share premium account of 

HK$714,488,000 is, subject to solvency test, available for distribution to shareholders of the Company.
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Property, plant and equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in Note 

16 to the financial statements.

Particulars of investment properties

A summary of the particulars of investment properties is set out on page 119.

Pre-emptive rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association and there is no restriction 

against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which will oblige the Company to offer new shares 

on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may 

distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of 

dividends shall be in accordance with the Articles of Association and the distribution shall achieve 

continuity, stability and sustainability.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and 

any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company. In 

proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings per 

share, the reasonable return in investment of the investors and the shareholders in order to provide incentive 

to them to continue to support the Group in their long-term development, the financial conditions and 

business plan of the Group, and the market sentiment and circumstances.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no assurance that a dividend will be 

proposed or declared in any specific periods.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Financial summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set 

out on page 120.

Purchase, sale or redemption of securities

The Company had not redeemed any of its ordinary shares during the year ended 31 December 2023. 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company’s ordinary 

shares during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Ma Zheng

Mr. Yuan Geng

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ji Jianghua

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Mr. Chung Chin Keung

Mr. Sung Ren Keh (appointed on 1 March 2023)

Mr. Wang Xiao Bing (resigned on 1 March 2023)

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yuan Geng, Mr. Ji Jianghua and 

Mr. Chung Chin Keung, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting.

Pursuant to the code provision B.2.3 of the Code as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing 

Rules, any further appointment of independent non-executive director serving more than 9 years should be 

subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders.

As at the date of this annual report, it is noted that two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Wan Tze 

Fan Terence and Mr. Chung Chin Keung have served the Board for more than nine years. In view of the 

professional qualifications and extensive experience of each of Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Chung 

Chin Keung in the accounting, financial management field and legal field respectively, the Board believes 

that they are capable of providing constructive contributions in relation to the Company’s affairs. The Board 

considers that Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Chung Chin Keung continue to be independent as they 

satisfied all the criteria for independence set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this 

annual report, Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence has served the Board for 20 years and Mr. Chung Chin Keung has 

served the Board for 16 years.

Subject to compliance with relevant GEM Listing Rules requirements, all other remaining Directors will 

continue in office.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company 

in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association and code provision B.2.2 of the Code as set 

out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence is an independent non-executive Director and was appointed without a specific 

term.
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Biographical details of directors and senior management

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management are set out on pages 10 and 11.

Director’s service contract

Ms. Ma Zheng and Mr. Yuan Geng, executive Directors, have renewed their service contracts with the 

Company for a term of two years commenced on 1 January 2024 and 18 February 2023 respectively. They 

are subject to termination by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice. Their service 

contracts are exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule 17.90 of the GEM Listing 

Rules.

Independence of independent non-executive directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his independence to the Company pursuant 

to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers the independent non-executive Directors 

to be independent.

Directors’ interests

No contract of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of 

the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any 

time during the year.

Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in the shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief executive of the 

Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the 

register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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The approximate percentage of interests set out below is based on 1,023,987,439 ordinary shares in issue 

as at 31 December 2023.

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.0625 each in the Company as at 31 December 2023:

Number of ordinary shares held
 

Number Approximate
Type of of ordinary percentage of

Name of Directors interests  shares interests

Ms. Ma Zheng Beneficial 372,051,632 36.33%

Mr. Yuan Geng Beneficial 20,350,633 1.99%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and chief executive of the 

Company had any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, 

the Company or its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the 

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to 

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Share option

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the Company at 

the annual general meeting of the Company (the “2022 AGM”) held on 17 May 2022 (the “Adoption Date”).

The Share Option Scheme which complies with Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Share Option 

Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives and/or rewards to Eligible Participants (as 

defined below) for their contribution to the growth of the Group and continuing efforts to promote the 

interests of the Group, and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to reward, remunerate, 

compensate and/or provide benefits to the Eligible Participants.

The definition of Eligible Participants in the Share Option Scheme include full time or part time employees of 

the Group (including any directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether independent or not, of 

the Company or any subsidiary) and any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers who, in the reasonable 

discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group eligible for options (the “Options”) 

under the Share Option Scheme.
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Whilst the scope of the Eligible Participants does not limit to the employees and directors of the Group, the 

Company considers that there can be circumstances when the other Eligible Participants would make 

contribution to the Group. As the purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise contributions made 

and to be made to the growth and development of the Group, the Company is of the view that the wide 

scope of Eligible Participants will allow flexibility to provide incentives to those Eligible Participants who will 

contribute to the Group. Granting Options to suppliers and agents of the Group will assist the Group to build 

its business network and consultants and advisers of the Group may provide valuable advices to the Group 

and they can be eligible to the Options in light of such advices. The Company will not grant Options to 

persons who would not or may not contribute to the Group.

The rules of the Share Option Scheme provide that the Company may specify the Eligible Participants to 

whom Options shall be granted, the number of Shares subject to each Option and the date on which the 

Options shall be granted. The basis for determining the subscription price is also specified precisely in the 

rules of the Share Option Scheme. There is no performance target specified in the Share Option Scheme. 

The Directors consider that the aforesaid criteria and rules will serve to preserve the value of the Company 

and encourage Eligible Participants to acquire proprietary interests in the Company.

Subject to the obtaining of Shareholders’ approval with respect to the adoption of the Share Option Scheme 

at the 2022 AGM, the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all Options to be 

granted under the Share Option Scheme and another other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10% of 

the total number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date unless the Company obtains a fresh approval 

from Shareholders to renew the 10% Scheme Mandate Limit (as defined in the Share Option Scheme) on the 

basis that the maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted under the Share 

Option Scheme together with any Options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Share Option 

Scheme and any other schemes shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time 

to time. Having taken into accounts of the outstanding Options, which are less than 10% of the total number 

of shares in issue, the Company is of the view that the 30% threshold requirement can be met.

The exercise price for shares under the Share Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its 

absolute discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as 

stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a Business 

Day, (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock 

Exchange for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of 

the share on the date of grant. The life of the Share Option Scheme shall be for ten years commencing from 

the Adoption Date. A nominal value of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of each grant of share options.

No Options were granted by the Company and no Options were exercised during the period under review. 

No Options were outstanding as at 31 December 2023.

Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in the shares and underlying 
shares of the Company

The register of substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 

December 2023, the Company had been notified that the following substantial shareholders having the 

following interests and short positions, being 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital 

carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company, in the Company. These 

interests are shown in addition to those disclosed above in respect of the Directors and chief executives:
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The approximate percentage of interests set out below is based on 1,023,987,439 ordinary shares in issue 

as at 31 December 2023.

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.0625 each in the Company as at 31 December 2023:

Approximate
Type of Number of the percentage

Name of shareholders interests  shares held of interests

Ms. Guo Xiuqin Corporate 123,867,678 12.10%

Tung Shing Energy Investment Corporate 123,867,678 12.10%
  Limited

Excel Sino Investments Limited Beneficial 123,867,678 12.10%
(Note 1)

Mr. Ji Shengzhi Corporate 110,000,000 10.74%

Ms. Lu Ke Corporate 110,000,000 10.74%

Ultra Vantage Holdings Limited Beneficial 110,000,000 10.74%
(Note 2)

萬科企業股份有限公司 Corporate 93,089,767 9.09%

成都萬科房地產有限公司 Corporate 93,089,767 9.09%

Chogori Investment (Hong Kong) Limited Corporate 93,089,767 9.09%

Winsteria (BVI) Company Limited Corporate 93,089,767 9.09%

Winmaxi (BVI) Company Limited Beneficial 93,089,767 9.09%
(Note 3)

Notes:

1.	 Excel Sino Investments Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, is 

beneficially owned as to 80% by Tung Shing Energy Investment Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin 

Islands (which in turn is 100% beneficially owned by Ms. Guo Xiuqin), and as to the remaining 20% by an 

independent investor. Tung Shing Energy Investment Limited and Ms. Guo Xiuqin are deemed to be interested in 

these underlying shares under SFO.

2.	 Ultra Vantage Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Samoa with limited liability, is jointly owned by Ms. Lu Ke 

and Mr. Ji Shengzhi. Ms. Lu Ke and Mr. Ji Shengzhi are deemed to be interested in these underlying shares under 

SFO.

3.	 Winmaxi (BVI) Company Limited (“Winmaxi”) is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited 

liability and is a subsidiary of China Vanke Co., Ltd.# (萬科企業股份有限公司 ), a company listed on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Winmaxi is wholly-owned by Winsteria (BVI) Company Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Chogori Investment 

(Hong Kong) Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by 成都萬科房地產有限公司 , while 成都萬科房地產有限公司 is a 

controlling subsidiary of 萬科企業股份有限公司 .
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors are not aware of any other person (other 

than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares and 

underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 

SFO, or who had an interest, directly or indirectly, in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share 

capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company, or any other 

substantial shareholders whose interests or short position were recorded in the register required to be kept 

by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to 

any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to 

acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 

corporate.

Management contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 

business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year.

Major customers and suppliers

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 50% of the total sales for the year, 

and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 33%.

Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier accounted for approximately 37% of the total purchases for the 

year and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 73% of the Group’s total purchases for the 

year.

None of the Company’s Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or the 

existing shareholders, which, to the knowledge of the Directors holding more than 5% of the Company’s 

issued share capital, had any interests in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers at any time during 

2023.

Corporate governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted by the Company is set out on pages 23 to 

33.
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Audit committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference in 

compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and Code Provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the 

Code. The primary role and function of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to (i) review the 

financial controls, internal controls and risk management systems of the Group; (ii) review and monitor the 

external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance 

with applicable standards; and (iii) review the financial statements and the quarterly, interim and annual 

reports of the Group. During the year under review, the Audit Committee comprises three members, Mr. Wan 

Tze Fan Terence, Mr. Chung Chin Keung and Mr. Sung Ren Keh who are the independent non-executive 

Directors of the Company. Mr. Sung Ren Keh appointed as independent non-executive Director of the 

Company on 1 March 2023. Mr. Wong Xiao Bing, independent non-executive Director of the Company, 

resigned on 1 March 2023. During the year under review, the Audit Committee held four meetings and 

performed duties including reviewing the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual reports and announcements. 

After reviewing the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee 

is of the opinion that the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 comply 

with applicable accounting standards, GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) was established on 1 June 

2005. The primary role and function of the Remuneration Committee is to consider and recommend to the 

Board on the Group’s remuneration policy and structure for the remuneration of all executive Directors and 

senior management and to review and determine the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and 

senior management. During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee comprises three members, 

Mr. Chung Chin Keung, Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Sung Ren Keh who are the independent 

non-executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Sung Ren Keh appointed as independent non-executive 

Director of the Company on 1 March 2023. Mr. Wong Xiao Bing, independent non-executive Director of the 

Company, resigned on 1 March 2023.

Nomination committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) was established on 22 March 

2012. The primary role and function of the Nomination Committee, among other things, are to (i) review the 

structure, size and composition of the Board at least once a year and make recommendations on any 

proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) assess the 

independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and (iii) make recommendations to the Board on 

appointment and re-appointment of Directors. During the year under review, the Nomination Committee 

comprises three members, Mr. Chung Chin Keung, Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Sung Ren Keh who 

are the independent non-executive Directors of the Company. Mr. Sung Ren Keh appointed as independent 

non-executive Director of the Company on 1 March 2023. Mr. Wong Xiao Bing, independent non-executive 

Director of the Company, resigned on 1 March 2023.

Connected and related party transactions

Details of the related party transactions during the year are included in Note 39 to the financial statements. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the related party transactions were conducted on normal commercial 

terms and in the ordinary course of business and did not require reporting pursuant to Chapter 20 of the 

GEM Listing Rules.



21China Primary Energy Holdings Limited
 Annual Report 2023

Directors’ Report

Competition and conflict of interests

During the year under review, none of the Directors, significant shareholders, substantial shareholders and 

any of their respective associates had engaged in any business that competed or might compete directly or 

indirectly, with the business of the Group, or had or might have any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects would be affected by a 

number of risks and uncertainties including business risks, operational risks and financial management risks.

Starting from 2014, the Group operated natural gas business in the PRC. The demand of the natural gas 

business mainly relies on the PRC government policy on energy and the supply of natural gas from natural 

gas producers. The natural gas price fluctuates and is determined by the global environment which is a 

major uncertainty of the natural gas business of the Group.

Details of the financial risk management are disclosed in Note 41 to the financial statements.

Environmental policies and performance

As a responsible listed company, the Board ensures the Group is committed to support the environmental 

sustainability. The Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental 

protection and adopts effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste 

reduction. The energy segment and investment properties segment of the Group are non-polluting 

businesses and do not produce much waste and polluted materials. The management ensures that 

environmental protection remains a major element of our operations.

Besides the above two operating segments, generally, the Group is committed to maintain an environmental 

friendly corporation to conserve natural resources. The Group strives to minimise our environmental impacts 

by saving electricity and encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. Detail information on the 

ESG practices adopted by the Company is set out in the ESG Report which is presented in a separate report 

and published on the websites of the Company under the heading “Corporate Report” and the Stock 

Exchange. If the shareholders of the Company wish to receive a printed copy of ESG Report, they may 

submit their request to the Company c/o Tricor Tengis Limited, the branch share registrar and the transfer 

office of the Company in Hong Kong at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by 

post.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects of relevant laws and regulations 

that may have significant impacts on the business and operation of the Group. During the year under review, 

there was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Relationship with employees, customers and suppliers

The Group believes that employees are valuable assets. The Group provides competitive remuneration 

packages to attract and motivate the employees and such packages are reviewed regularly. The Company 

also grants share options to employees with good performance.
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The Group understands the importance of maintaining good relationship with our suppliers and customers to 

meet our corporate goals. The Group communicates with suppliers and customers constantly to exchange 

ideas and views. We provide information on development of the Group to suppliers and customers so that 

they are confident with the Group’s prospects so as to maintain a strong relationship.

Permitted indemnity provision

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of 

the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any 

of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the 

execution of their duties, or supposed duties, in their respective offices or trusts.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance which provides appropriate cover 

for the Directors.

Sufficiency of public float

The Company had maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors were not aware of any material contingent liabilities.

Significant event after the reporting date

Save as disclosed above, there is no significant event after the reporting date up to the date of this annual 

report.

Auditor

The financial statements have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of 

the Company to re-appoint BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company. There has been no change in 

auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Ma Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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(A)	 Corporate governance practices

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all the code provisions set out in the 

Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 

(collectively referred as the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the year ended 31 December 2023, with the 

exception of a deviation as set out under section (D) below. The application of the relevant principles 

and the reasons for the abovementioned deviation are contained in this report.

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate governance to enhance 

shareholder value and safeguard shareholder interests. The Company’s corporate governance 

principles emphasise the need to have a quality Board, effective internal control and accountability to 

shareholders.

(B)	 Directors’ securities transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms 

no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM 

Listing Rules. All Directors confirmed they had complied with the required standard of dealings and 

the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year.

(C)	 Board of directors

The Company is governed by the Board, which has the responsibility for leading and controlling the 

Company. The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by 

directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. More specifically, the Board formulates strategy, 

monitors its financial performance and maintains effective oversight over management. The Board 

delegates daily operations and administration of the Company to management.

The Board includes (up to the approval date of these financial statements) the Chairman together with 

one executive Director, one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors, 

and their biographical details have been set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 

Management” section.

Board Meetings

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for providing with Board papers and related 

materials, for ensuring that all Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are 

followed, and for reporting to the Chairman and/or the chief executive on governance matters. All 

Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The 

Company Secretary also keeps minutes of all meetings which are available for inspection at any 

reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.



24 China Primary Energy Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

Corporate Governance Report

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a substantial shareholder or a director, such 

matter will be discussed through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written resolutions. 

Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be presented at meetings dealing 

with such conflict issues. The board committees, including the audit committee, the remuneration 

committee and the nomination committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures 

used in board meetings for all committee meetings. If considered to be necessary and appropriate by 

the Directors, they may retain independent professional advisors at the Group’s expense.

The Board meets regularly and held 7 Board meetings in 2023. At least 14 days’ notice of the regular 

Board meetings were given to all Directors, who were all given an opportunity to include matters in the 

agenda for discussion. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information 

are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each regular board meeting or committee meeting to 

keep Directors apprised of the latest development and financial position of the Company and to 

enable them to make informed decisions. The Directors attended the meetings in persons or through 

other means of electronic communication in accordance with the Articles of Association. During 

regular Board meetings, the Directors discussed and formulated the overall strategies of the Group, 

reviewed and approved the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discussed and decided 

on other significant matters of the Group. All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant 

information as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that 

Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able 

to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, 

upon making request to the Board. Individual attendance records of each Director at the respective 

Board and committee meetings are set out in the section of “Directors’ Attendance Record at 

Meetings” of this report.

Board Diversity

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. The Board seeks to achieve Board diversity through 

different aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board also takes into account 

factors based on the Company’s own business development and specific needs from  time to time. In 

assessing and selecting a candidate for acting as a Director, the criteria to be considered including 

but not limited to (i) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and 

experience; (ii) commitment to attending the meetings and participating in relevant training and other 

board associated activities; and (iii) such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s 

business and succession plan and from time to time.

Currently, the ratio of male and female members in the Board is 5:1. The Board will seek to achieve 

balance of Board gender diversity when new members are appointed in the future.

Continuous Professional Development

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all Directors should participate in continuous 

professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that 

their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this report, all 

Directors have participated in continuous professional development by attending seminars or 

programmes or studying relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance and 

regulations.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31 December 2023 is 

summarised below:

Attending seminar(s)
or programme(s)/

studying relevant materials
in relation to the

business or
Name of Directors directors’ duties

Yes/No

Executive Directors
Ms. Ma Zheng (Chairman) Yes

Mr. Yuan Geng Yes

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ji Jianghua Yes

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence Yes

Mr. Chung Chin Keung Yes

Mr. Sung Ren Keh Yes

All Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional development and are 

committed to participate in any suitable training or study relevant materials in order to develop and 

refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the year under review, there was no conflict of interest in any matters with the substantial 

shareholders and Directors of the Company. In addition, if the Board considers a Director to be 

having a conflict of interest, that Director will be required to abstain from voting.

(D)	 Chairman and chief executive officer

For the year 2023, the Company still did not have an officer with the title of “Chief Executive Officer”. 

The Code envisages that the management of the Board should rest with the Chairman, whereas the 

day-to-day management of the Company’s business should rest with the Chief Executive. Ms. Ma 

Zheng, the Chairman, is also a director of some of the Company’s operating subsidiaries. This 

constitutes a deviation of code provision C.2.1 of the Code. The Board holds the view that this 

arrangement is appropriate for the Company but the Company does not compromise accountability 

and independent decision making for this since the Company has an audit committee, all members of 

which are independent non-executive Directors, to help to ensure the accountability and 

independence of Ms. Ma Zheng.
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(E)	 Appointment and re-election of directors

According to the Articles of Association (a) every director, including those appointed for a specific 

term, should be subjected to retirement by rotation at least once every three years; and (b) all 

directors appointed to fill casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the next 

following general meeting of the Company after their appointment.

(F)	 Non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors

During the year under review, the Company had one non-executive Director, Mr. Ji Jianghua and three 

independent non-executive Directors, they were Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, Mr. Chung Chin Keung 

and Mr. Sung Ren Keh. Except for Mr. Ji Jianghua, Mr. Chung Chin Keung and Mr. Sung Ren Keh 

who are appointed for a specific term of two years, Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence is not appointed for any 

specific terms. However, he is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in 

accordance with the Articles of Association. The Board has discussed and concluded that the current 

practice of appointing non-executive directors without specific terms but otherwise subject to 

retirement and re-election is fair and reasonable, and therefore will not change the terms of 

appointment of Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence.

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Chung Chin Keung are independent non-executive Directors 

serving the Company for more than 9 years. Any future re-appointment of Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence 

and Mr. Chung Chin Keung should follow the requirements of code provision B.2.3 of the Code. The 

Board considers that Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Chung Chin Keung continue to be 

independent as they have satisfied all the criteria for independence set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM 

Listing Rules.

(G)	 Responsibilities of directors

The Board will make sure every newly appointed director will receive the necessary information for his 

proper understanding of the operations and business of the Group and that he will be fully aware of 

his responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules and other regulatory 

requirements and governance policies of the Company. The Directors will continually update 

themselves with legal and regulatory development, business and market changes and the 

development of the Company so as to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

Corporate governance functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance duties:

(1)	 To observe, and to charge employees with duty to observe, compliance with the GEM Listing 

Rules and applicable laws and regulations;

(2)	 To develop, review and monitor the Company’s policies, procedures and practices on corporate 

governance and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(3)	 To take and monitor the implementation of measures relating to:

(a)	 significant breach of compliance policies;

(b)	 significant compliance incidents; and 

(c)	 disciplinary actions taken by authorities;

(4)	 To maintain sound communication with management and Company Secretary of the Company 

to ensure corporate governance and timely compliance;

(5)	 To pay attention to the Code and recommended best practices of the GEM Listing Rules and 

review disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company from time to time; and

(6)	 To review, monitor and facilitate the training and continuous professional development of the 

Directors in relation to corporate governance.

During 2023, the Board discharged its duties by reviewing and monitoring the Company’s compliance 

with the Code and other legal and regulatory requirements, reviewing and updating the policy for 

notifiable transactions, connected transactions and inside information and the code of conduct 

regarding securities transactions by Directors, reviewing, facilitating and monitoring the training and 

continuous professional development of the Directors and reviewing the disclosures in this Corporate 

Governance Report.

(H)	 Remuneration committee

The Board has established a remuneration committee with specific written terms of reference in 

compliance with the code provision E.1.2 of the Code. These terms of reference were already 

reviewed by all Directors before they were adopted. During the year under review, the remuneration 

committee comprised only of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Chin 

Keung, Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Sung Ren Keh. Mr. Chung Chin Keung is the chairman of 

the remuneration committee. The remuneration committee had held one meeting during 2023.

The role and function of the remuneration committee include determination of the specific 

remuneration packages of all executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights and 

compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or 

appointment, and make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration package. The 

remuneration committee also has to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under 

the GEM Listing Rules. During the year under review, the remuneration committee adopted the 

approach under the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code to make recommendations to the Board on 

the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management.
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(I)	 Nomination committee

The Company established the nomination committee on 22 March 2012 with written terms of reference 

in compliance with the code provision B.3.1 of the Code. The primary role and function of the 

nomination committee, among other things, are to (i) review the structure, size and composition of the 

Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to 

complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) assess the independence of independent 

non-executive Directors; and (iii) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and 

re-appointment of Directors. During the year under review, the nomination committee comprises three 

members, Mr. Chung Chin Keung, Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Sung Ren Keh, all of them are 

independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Chung Chin Keung is the chairman of the nomination 

committee.

The nomination committee had held three meeting during the year under review. The nomination 

committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.

(J)	 Audit committee

The Company established an audit committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 

5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the Code. The primary 

role and function of the audit committee, among other things, are to (i) review the financial controls, 

internal controls and risk management systems of the Group; (ii) review and monitor the external 

auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with 

applicable standards; (iii) review the financial statements and the quarterly, interim and annual reports 

of the Group; and (iv) oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and 

internal control systems. During the year under review, the audit committee comprises three members, 

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, Mr. Chung Chin Keung and Mr. Sung Ren Keh, all of them are independent 

non-executive Directors. Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence is the chairman of the audit committee.

The audit committee had held four meetings during the year under review. The audit committee has 

reviewed and provided supervision over the financial reporting system and internal control procedures 

of the Group and reviewed the Company’s annual report and financial statements, interim report and 

quarterly reports and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board that such reports were 

prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and requirements. The audit 

committee also met with the external auditor to discuss auditing, internal control, statutory compliance 

and financial reporting matters before recommending the annual financial reports to the Board for 

approval.

The audit committee is satisfied with their review of the audit fee and audit process and has 

recommended the Board to re-appoint the existing auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Group’s 2023 annual report, 2023 quarterly reports and 2023 interim report had been reviewed by 

the audit committee.
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Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of the Board and its respective committees 

during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Remuneration Nomination
Board Audit Committee Committee General

Meeting Committee Meeting Meeting Meeting
Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to

Name of Directors attend attend attend attend attend

Number of meetings held during  

the financial year 7 4 1 3 1

Executive Directors
Ms. Ma Zheng (Chairman) 6/7 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Yuan Geng 5/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ji Jianghua 0/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence  

(Chairman of audit committee) 7/7 4/4 1/1 3/3 1/1

Mr. Chung Chin Keung  

(Chairman of remuneration committee and 

nomination committee) 5/7 3/4 1/1 3/3 1/1

Mr. Sung Ren Keh (appointed on 1 March 2023) 6/7 4/4 1/1 1/3 0/1

Mr. Wang Xiao Bing (resigned on 1 March 2023) 1/7 0/4 0/1 2/3 0/1

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect of the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group 

for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual 

and interim reports, inside information announcements and other disclosures required under the GEM 

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The management provides such explanations and information to the Board so as to enable the Board 

to make an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the Group put to the 

Board for approval.

The responsibilities of the external auditor of the Company for reporting responsibilities on the financial 

statements are set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 34 to 40.
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(K)	 Auditor’s remuneration

The audit committee of the Company is responsible for considering the appointment of the external 

auditor and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the external auditor, including whether 

such non-audit functions can lead to any potential material adverse effect on the Company. During the 

year under review, an amount of approximately HK$1,280,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,280,000) 

was charged to the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 for audit services provided by the external auditor, audit 

services include annual audit financial statements and agreed upon procedures on preliminary 

announcement of result. No non-audit service was provided by the external auditor in 2023.

(L)	 Risk management and internal control

The Board is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and 

internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis. The Company has already adopted a 

well-designed internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Company and the shareholders’ 

investments and to ensure the reliability of financial reporting as well as compliance with the relevant 

requirement of the GEM Listing Rules. The Group has an internal audit team (the “IA Team”) with 

direct reporting line to the Audit Committee, to carry out the internal audit function.

Risk management and internal control systems

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather than 

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives of the Company and the Group. Therefore, 

it can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against all risk issues. A bottom-up 

approach was employed for identification, assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels 

and across all functional areas.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Audit Committee is responsible for identifying the risk of 

the Group and deciding on the risk levels and the Board is responsible for assessing and determining 

the nature and extent of the risks that are acceptable to the Group when achieving its strategic 

objectives. After discussing and taking into consideration the risk response, the relevant departments 

and business units shall be assigned to implement the risk management solutions in accordance with 

their respective roles and responsibilities. The identified risk together with the risk response will be 

recorded and subject to the Board’s oversight.

Main features of risk management and internal control systems

The key elements of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company include the 

establishment of a register to keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment and 

evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the 

ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

An ongoing risk assessment approach is adopted by the Company for identifying and assessing the 

key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. The judgement of the risk is mainly 

determined in accordance with the likelihood of occurrence and consequence of occurrence of the 

risk.
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems 
and to resolve material internal control defects

The IA Team performed review on the major operating units of the Group in the fourth quarter of 2023 

in compliance with the requirements under Code Provision D.2 of the Code, according to the scope of 

review agreed and directed by the Audit Committee covering the Group’s material controls in 

financial, operational and compliance aspects. The review identified certain internal control 

weaknesses and risks but none of them are significant. The IA Team reported to the Audit Committee 

and the Audit Committee is satisfied that although there were areas that need to be improved, there 

has been no major deficiency noted in the areas of the Company’s risk management and internal 

control systems being reviewed after implementation of recommendations of the internal control 

defects reported by the IA Team. Accordingly, the Board considered the risk management and 

internal control systems to be effective and have been implemented with adequate resources.

Procedures and internal control for the handling and dissemination of inside information

The Board has established a policy to handle the dissemination of inside information. The policy 

stipulated the obligations of the Group, restriction on sharing non-public information, handling of 

rumours, unintentional selective disclosure, exemptions and waiver to the disclosure of inside 

information, external communication guidelines and compliance and reporting procedures. The Board 

and the management of the Company takes all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure that 

proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Company. 

They must promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside information to the attention of 

the Financial Controller who will notify the Board as soon as reasonably practicable accordingly for 

taking the appropriate prompt action. In the event that there is evidence of any material violation of 

the policy, the Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course of actions for 

rectifying the problem and avoiding the likelihood of its recurrence.

In addition, employees who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to be in possession of 

inside information in relation to the Company, are required to strictly adhere to the policy of 

management of inside information and are required to comply with the securities transaction rules 

adopted by the Company which are on terms no less exacting than those required under the GEM 

Listing Rules.

Whistleblowing policy

The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”). The Group aims to 

maintaining high standard of business ethics and corporate governance. The Company expects and 

encourages its employees and other parties who deal with the Company and its subsidiaries (e.g. 

customers, contractors and suppliers, etc. (collectively, the “Other Stakeholders”) to report a serious 

concern about any suspected fraud, malpractice, misconduct or irregularity (the “Concern”).

The Whistleblowing Policy aims to (i) set up reporting channels and guidance on whistleblowing to 

employees or Other Stakeholders to raise the Concern; and (ii) reveal suspected fraud, malpractice or 

misconduct before these activities cause disruption or loss to the Group.

Effectiveness of the system

In the view of the Board, the Group’s system of risk management and internal control systems are 

effective and there is no material deficiency in the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. 

The system is reviewed annually.
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(M)	 Company secretary

Mr. Wong Chun Sing is the Company Secretary of the Company. As an employee of the Company, he 

is responsible to the Board for ensuring the board procedures are followed and that the Board is 

briefed on legislative, regulatory and corporate governance development. During the year under 

review, Mr. Wong confirmed that he undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. 

His biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this 

annual report.

(N)	 Communication with shareholders

Communication with shareholders is given a high priority. The Company aims to provide its 

shareholders with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency through the publication of 

annual, interim and quarterly reports, announcements and circulars made through the websites of the 

Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board also maintains an on-going dialogue with shareholders and make use of general meetings 

to communicate with shareholders. The Company encourages all shareholders to attend general 

meetings which provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The 

Chairman of the Board and members of relevant committees and senior management of the Company 

are available to answer shareholders’ questions in all general meetings.

(O)	 Investor relations

The Company disclosed all necessary information to shareholders in compliance with the GEM Listing 

Rules. The Company will also reply to enquires from shareholders on request.

During the year under review, there was no change in the Articles of Association.

(P)	 Shareholders’ rights

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights, separate resolutions are 

proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of individual 

directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ 

meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be 

posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the relevant shareholders’ 

meeting.

Policy on shareholders’ communication

The policy on shareholders’ communication (“Policy”) aims to promote effective communication with 

shareholders and enable them to exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner and to 

furnish the investment community with equal and timely access to information about the Company. 

The Company shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and the investment community, 

and will regularly review this Policy to ensure its effectiveness.
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(Q)	 Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board on requisition of shareholders holding 

not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company or by such shareholders who made the 

requisition (the “Requisitionists”) (as the case may be) pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of 

Association. Such requisition must state the object of business to be transacted at the meeting and 

must be signed by the Requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the Company or the 

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. Shareholders should follow the requirements 

and procedures as set out in such Article for convening an extraordinary general meeting. 

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meeting of the Company by sending the same to 

the Company’s head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written enquiries to the 

Company. Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the 

Company’s head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA PRIMARY ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(中國基礎能源控股有限公司)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Primary Energy Holdings Limited (the 

“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 118, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been 

properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 

HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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(1)	 Valuation of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties amounted to HK$199,610,000 as at 31 December 2023 and a fair 

value loss of HK$3,459,000 was accounted for under “loss arising from changes in fair value of 

investment properties” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income.

The Group engaged the independent external property valuer to determine the fair value of investment 

properties held by the Group as at 31 December 2023.

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as at the end of reporting period as a key 

audit matter because of the significance of investment properties to the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements. The fair value is determined by applying the income approach, using the investment 

method whereby the estimated market rental receivables during the term of the tenancies are 

capitalised at appropriate yield with due allowance for the revisionary income potential of the 

properties. The determination of the fair values involves significant judgement and estimation, 

including selecting the appropriate valuation methodology, capitalisation rates and market rents.

Refer to Notes 4(e), 5(c), and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties included the following:

(i)	 assessing the competence, capability, and objectivity of the external property valuer engaged 

by the management;

(ii)	 evaluating the valuation methodology used by the external property valuer based on our 

knowledge of other property valuer for similar types of properties;

(iii)	 comparing on a sample basis the tenancy information included in the valuation models, which 

included committed rents and occupancy rates, with underling contracts and related 

documentation; and

(iv)	 discussing the valuations with the independent external property valuer and challenging key 

estimates adopted in the valuations, including those relating to market rents and capitalisation 

rates, by comparing them with historical rates and available market data, taking into 

consideration comparability and other local market factors, with the assistance of property 

valuation specialist engaged by us.
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(2)	 Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment related to sale of heat 
and biomass gasification related products business (the “heat and biomass 
gasification business”)

As at 31 December 2023, the directors performed impairment assessment on certain property, plant 

and equipment amounted to approximately HK$103,071,000 relating to the Group’s cash-generating 

unit (“CGU”) engaged in the heat and biomass gasification business in light of the persistently net 

loss of this business suffered by the Group.

The Group engaged an independent professional valuer to assist in the estimation of recoverable 

amount of this CGU, determined by assessing its value in use based on a discounted cash flow 

forecast. Preparing a discounted cash flow forecast involves the exercise of significant management 

judgement, in particular in forecasting revenue growth and operating profit and in determining an 

appropriate discount rate. Based on such assessment, no impairment loss was recognised on 

property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Given the involvement of significant management judgement and estimation in this impairment 

assessment and the significance of the carrying value of the property, plant and equipment to the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements, we considered this a key audit matter.

Refer to Notes 4(d), 4(f), 5(a) and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures included the following:

(i)	 assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies used in the assessment of the 

recoverable amount;

(ii)	 evaluating the assumptions adopted in the preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts, 

including projected future growth rates for income and expenses and discount rate;

(iii)	 engaging an independent and qualified valuation specialist to assist us in evaluating the 

methodology and significant assumptions including discount rates adopted by management in 

its impairment assessment; and

(iv)	 evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent professional valuer.
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(3)	 Impairment of Goodwill

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill amounted to approximately HK$15,302,000, 

which for impairment testing purposes was allocated to two CGUs engaged in the Group’s natural gas 

business.

We focused on this area as the balance was material to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

In addition, the directors determined the recoverable amounts of these CGUs by estimating their 

respective value-in-use calculations which involves management judgements and estimates about the 

future results of the business, key assumptions including sales growth rate and gross profit margin, 

long-term growth rate and the discount rate applied to each future cash flow projection.

Refer to Notes 4(b), 5(b) and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit team included a valuation expert. Our audit procedures included the following:

(i)	 assessing the appropriateness of valuation methodologies used by management’s valuation 

expert;

(ii)	 checking the reasonableness of input data used in the Group’s future cash flow projection of 

each CGU to supporting evidence, such as sales contracts and orders, and considering the 

reasonableness of these budgets;

(iii)	 assessing the reasonableness of management’s key assumptions used including sales growth 

rate and gross profit margin by comparing the current year’s actual results with the 2023 

figures included in the prior year’s forecast, by reference to future plans and by performing 

independent market analysis;

(iv)	 checking the appropriateness of the long term growth rate and discount rate applied to each 

future cash flow projection; and

(v)	 considering the potential impact of a reasonably possible downside change in management’s 

key assumptions and input data.
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Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit 

Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our 

engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any 

other person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 

public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wendy W.Y. Fong
Practising Certificate Number: P06821

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Revenue 6 183,442 184,683

Other income and gains and losses 8 1,724 1,598

Changes in inventories of finished goods (128,881) (135,784)

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration 14 (21,038) (20,855)

Depreciation 10 (18,150) (17,307)

Amortisation of other intangible assets 20 (378) (378)

Loss arising from changes in fair value of investment properties 17 (3,459) (2,028)

Gain on disposal of assets classified as held for sale 27 – 9,426

Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) on trade 

receivables, net 23(b) 1,100 (28)

Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables and 

prepayments 24(b) 130 450

Other operating expenses 10 (22,956) (21,728)

Finance costs 9 (8,617) (6,360)
    

Loss before income tax 10 (17,083) (8,311)

Income tax expense 11 (2,542) (3,509)
    

Loss for the year (19,625) (11,820)
    

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (17,500) (9,855)

Non-controlling interests (2,125) (1,965)
    

Loss for the year (19,625) (11,820)
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2023 2022

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Changes in fair value of equity instruments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (5,130) 4,051

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (10,028) (34,788)
    

Other comprehensive income for the year (15,158) (30,737)
    

Total comprehensive income for the year (34,783) (42,557)
    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company (31,406) (37,408)

Non-controlling interests (3,377) (5,149)
    

(34,783) (42,557)
    

Loss per share 13

– Basic and diluted HK$(0.017) HK$(0.010)
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 419,105 315,692

Investment properties 17 199,610 208,492

Goodwill 19 15,302 15,725

Other intangible assets 20 168 517

Prepayment for property, plant and equipment 3,959 10,719

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 21 8,946 13,376
    

Total non-current assets 647,090 564,521
    

Current assets
Inventories 22 8,060 8,140

Trade receivables 23 18,974 18,732

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 24 50,491 57,390

Investments held for trading 25 27 43

Pledged bank deposit 26 – 56,536

Cash and cash equivalents 26 30,644 33,159
    

Total current assets 108,196 174,000
    

Total assets 755,286 738,521
    

Current liabilities
Trade payables 28 12,570 12,473

Contract liabilities, other payables and accruals 29 34,005 52,342

Loans from a major shareholder 30 943 1,325

Lease liabilities 35 1,709 1,805

Bank borrowings 31 67,642 224,469

Tax payable 8,682 7,133
    

Total current liabilities 125,551 299,547
    

Net current liabilities (17,355) (125,547)
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities, other payables and accruals 29 25,056 –

Loans from a major shareholder 30 41,819 34,631

Deferred tax liabilities 32 24,268 25,825

Lease liabilities 35 2,955 4,131

Bank borrowings 31 235,023 38,969
    

Total non-current liabilities 329,121 103,556
    

Total liabilities 454,672 403,103
    

NET ASSETS 300,614 335,418
    

Equity
Share capital 33 63,999 63,999

Reserves 190,573 221,979
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 254,572 285,978

Non-controlling interests 46,042 49,440
    

TOTAL EQUITY 300,614 335,418
    

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 March 

2024.

Ma Zheng Yuan Geng
Director Director
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Equity attributable to owners of the Company 

Share
capital

Share
premium
account

Statutory
surplus
reserve

Exchange
translation

reserve

Share 
Option

reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Financial
assets 

at FVTOCI
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 33) (Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d) (Note e)

Balance at 31 December 2021 and  
1 January 2022 63,999 727,375 5,109 51,224 24,066 34,512 1,210 (584,109) 323,386 42,807 366,193

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (9,855) (9,855) (1,965) (11,820)

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – (31,604) – – – – (31,604) (3,184) (34,788)
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at FVTOCI – – – – – – 4,051 – 4,051 – 4,051            

Total comprehensive income – – – (31,604) – – 4,051 (9,855) (37,408) (5,149) (42,557)            

Lapse of share options (Note 34) – – – – (24,066) – – 24,066 – – –
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – 11,782 11,782            

Balance at 31 December 2022 63,999 727,375 5,109 19,620 – 34,512 5,261 (569,898) 285,978 49,440 335,418
            

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 

Share
capital

Share
premium
account

Statutory
surplus
reserve

Exchange
translation

reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Financial 
assets 

at FVTOCI
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 33) (Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note e)

Balance at 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 63,999 727,375 5,109 19,620 34,512 5,261 (569,898) 285,978 49,440 335,418

Loss for the year – – – – – – (17,500) (17,500) (2,125) (19,625)

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – – – (8,776) – – – (8,776) (1,252) (10,028)
Changes in fair value of equity instruments at FVTOCI – – – – – (5,130) – (5,130) – (5,130)           

Total comprehensive income – – – (8,776) – (5,130) (17,500) (31,406) (3,377) (34,783)           

Dilution of non-controlling interests (Note 18(iv)) – – – – – – – – (21) (21)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve – – 1,519 – – – (1,519) – – –           

Balance at 31 December 2023 63,999 727,375 6,628 10,844 34,512 131 (588,917) 254,572 46,042 300,614
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Notes:

(a)	 The share premium account of the Group includes: (i) the premium arising from the issue of shares of the Company 

at a premium less share issue expenses; and (ii) the difference between the nominal value of the share capital and 

share premium of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) in 

preparation for the public listing of the Company’s shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

(the “Stock Exchange”) over the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange therefor.

(b)	 Subsidiaries of the Company established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are required to transfer 

10% of their profit after income tax calculated in accordance with the PRC accounting regulations to the statutory 

surplus reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of their respective registered capital, upon which any further 

appropriation will be at the recommendation of the directors of subsidiaries. Such reserve may be used to reduce 

any loss incurred by the subsidiaries or be capitalised as paid-up capital of the subsidiaries.

(c)	 Exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations. This reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in 

Note 4(j).

(d)	 Share option reserve comprises cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options to the 

employees and consultants over the vesting period.

(e)	 Property revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from owner-occupied properties to investment properties 

carried at fair value.
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax (17,083) (8,311)

    

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 16 18,150 17,307

Amortisation of other intangible assets 20 378 378

Bank interest income 8 (699) (2,834)

Finance costs 9 8,617 6,360

Fair value loss on investments held for trading 8 16 36

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 – (60)

Write off of property, plant and equipment 8 91 172

Loss arising from changes in fair value of investment properties 17 3,459 2,028

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 16 – 3,282

Gain on disposal of assets classified as held for sale 27 – (9,426)

(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss on trade 

receivables, net 23(b) (1,100) 28

Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables and 

prepayments 24(b) (130) (450)
    

Operating profit before working capital changes 11,699 8,510

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (140) 679

Increase in trade receivables (32) (3,780)

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments 4,520 (10,487)

Increase in trade payables 368 6,467

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities, other payables and 

accruals (21,152) 6,950
    

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (4,737) 8,339

Income tax paid (1,858) (847)

Bank interest income received 699 441
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (5,896) 7,933
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2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (116,738) (113,929)

Subsequent expenditure on investment properties 17 (177) –

Additional investment in equity instruments measured at 

 FVTOCI 21 (700) (3,426)

Release of in pledged bank deposit 26 56,536 –

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 18,216
    

Net cash used in investing activities (61,079) (99,139)
    

Cash flows from financing activities 38(b)

Proceeds from bank borrowings 352,931 169,232

Repayment of bank borrowings (306,423) (151,597)

Loans from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 29 25,158 –

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities (1,868) (2,438)

Loans from a major shareholder 2,528 2,016

Repayment of loans from a major shareholder (382) –

Capital contribution from non-controlling shareholders – 11,782

Interest paid (7,446) (9,483)
    

Net cash generated from financing activities 64,498 19,512
    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,477) (71,694)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 33,159 111,700

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (38) (6,847)
    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 30,644 33,159
    

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash 
equivalents

Cash at banks and in hand 30,644 33,159
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1.	 ORGANISATION AND OPERATIONS

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, as an exempted 

company under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 5 September 2001. The 

address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-

1111, Cayman Islands, and its principal place of business is Room 518, 5/F, Tower B, New Mandarin 

Plaza, 14 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares 

are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group engages in the transmission 

and distribution of natural gas, sale of heat and biomass gasification related products and property 

investment primarily in the PRC. The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 18. The 

directors of the Company consider Ms. Ma Zheng to be a controlling shareholder.

2.	 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a)	 Adoption of amended HKFRSs – effective on 1 January 2023

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following amended HKFRSs issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations and 

effective for the current accounting period.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 

from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules

The Group has not early applied any amended HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current 

accounting period.

The nature and impact of the adoption of these applicable amended HKFRSs are described 

below:

Amendments to HKAS 8 – Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8, which added the definition of accounting estimates, clarify that 

the effects of a change in an input or measurement technique are changes in accounting 

estimates, unless resulting from the correction of prior period errors. These amendments clarify 

how entities make the distinction between changes in accounting estimate, changes in 

accounting policy and prior period errors.

The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on these consolidated financial 

statements.
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2.	 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(a)	 Adoption of amended HKFRSs – effective on 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments aim to make accounting policy disclosures more informative by replacing the 

requirement to disclose ‘significant accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy 

information’. The amendments also provide guidance under what circumstance, the accounting 

policy information is likely to be considered material and therefore requiring disclosure.

The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the measurement or 

presentation of any items in these consolidated financial statements but affect the disclosure of 

accounting policies of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 12 – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 which clarify whether the initial recognition exemption applies to 

certain transactions that result in both an asset and a liability being recognised simultaneously 

(e.g. a lease in the scope of HKFRS 16). The amendments introduce an additional criterion for 

the initial recognition exemption, whereby the exemption does not apply to the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability which at the time of the transaction, gives rise to equal 

taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on these consolidated financial 

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 – International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules

In December 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) 

released a draft legislative framework for a global minimum tax that is expected to be used by 

individual jurisdictions. The goal of the framework is to reduce the shifting of profit from one 

jurisdiction to another in order to reduce global tax obligations in corporate structures. In March 

2022, the OECD released detailed technical guidance on Pillar Two of the rules.

Stakeholders raised concerns about the potential implications on income tax accounting, 

especially accounting for deferred taxes, arising from the Pillar Two model rules.

The Amendments introduce a mandatory exception to entities from the recognition and disclosure 

of information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two model rules. The 

exception is effective immediately and retrospectively. The Amendments also provide for 

additional disclosure requirements with respect to an entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes.

Management has determined that the Group is not within the scope of OECD’s Pillar Two Model 

Rules and the exception to the recognition and disclosure of information about deferred tax 

assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes is not applicable to the Group.
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2.	 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(b)	 Amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have 

been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The 

Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 
Amendments”)4

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
(amendments)1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements1

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
3	 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4	 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 

Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a 

Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in 

conclusion

Amendments to HKAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a 

liability is subject to compliance with future covenants, the entity has a right to defer settlement 

of the liability even if it does not comply with those covenants at the end of the reporting 

period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its 

right to defer settlement of the liability. The 2020 Amendments also clarify the situations that are 

considered as a settlement of a liability. The 2020 Amendments are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application of 

the 2020 Amendments is permitted. However, an entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early 

is also required to apply the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments in the 

future will have material impact on these financial statements.
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2.	 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(b)	 Amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 – Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The 2022 Amendments clarify how to treat liabilities that are subject to covenants to be 

complied with, at a date subsequent to the reporting period. The 2022 Amendments improve 

the information an entity provides when its right to defer settlement of a liability for at least 

twelve months is subject to compliance with covenants. The 2022 Amendments clarify that only 

covenants with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date will affect a 

liability’s classification as current or non-current. The 2022 Amendments are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier 

application of the 2022 Amendments is permitted. 

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2022, the directors of the 

Company do not anticipate that the application of the amendments will result in the 

reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 – Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (amendments)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the 

lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not 

recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be 

applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial 

application of HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted.

The Group expected that the adoption of these amendments will not have any significant 

impact on these financial statements.
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2.	 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(b)	 Amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 

and its Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements 

in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 

an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a 

gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets 

constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a 

gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to 

the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments 

are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to 

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available 

for adoption now.

The Group expected that the adoption of these amendments will not have any significant 

impact on these financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 – Supplier Finance Arrangements

Disclosures to clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require 

additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments 

are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier 

finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2024. Early adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed.

The Group expected that the adoption of these amendments will not have any significant 

impact on these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 – Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments arose as a result of a submission about the determination of the exchange 

rate when there is a long-term lack of exchangeability. HKAS 21, prior to the amendments, did 

not include explicit requirements for the determination of the exchange rate when a currency is 

not exchangeable into another currency, which led to diversity in practice. The amendments 

introduce requirements to assess when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and 

when it is not. The amendments require an entity to estimate the spot exchange rate when it 

concludes that a currency is not exchangeable into another currency.

The Group expected that the adoption of these amendments will not have any significant 

impact on these consolidated financial statements.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)	 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, 

Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively 

referred to as the “HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

(b)	 Basis of measurement and going concern assumption

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for 

investment properties and certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair values.

During the year, the Group incurred a loss of HK$19,625,000 and at the end of the reporting 

period, it recorded net current liabilities of HK$17,355,000. The directors of the Company have 

assessed the situation and prepared a cash flow projection of the Group covering a period 

from the end of the reporting period to 31 March 2025 after taking into account of the following:

I.	 The Group continues to implement measures to tighten cost controls over various 

operating expenses in order to improve its profitability and to generate positive cash 

inflows from its operations.

II.	 As set out in Note 31(b), the Group has undrawn bank and other loan facilities totalling 

RMB95,697,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$105,292,000) as at 31 December 2023, 

out of which the bank facilities of RMB78,320,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$86,173,000) and other loan facilities of RMB17,377,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$19,119,000) can be utilised by the Group up to the period ending 20 September 

2033 and 31 December 2025 respectively.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that as a result of the above measures and 

considerations, the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its cash flows 

requirements in the next twelve months. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements 

have been prepared on a going concern basis.

(c)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group entities are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 

currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), 

which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and 

its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together 

with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment 

on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(b)	 Goodwill

Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 

impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units that are 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. A cash-generating unit is 

the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating unit 

to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its 

carrying amount with its recoverable amount, and whenever there is an indication that the unit 

may be impaired.

When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of 

the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the 

carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will not 

reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal (if 

measurable) or its value in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss 

for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

(c)	 Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The cost of intangible 

assets acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on unit-of-production method or straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives as follows:

Customer relationships	 10 years

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 

lives are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, 

using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 

method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, and adjusted if appropriate, with the 

effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal annual 

rates are as follows:

Land and buildings	 Over the lease terms or 3%

Leasehold improvements	 Over the remaining term of the lease but not

	   exceeding 4 years

Computer equipment	 20% – 33%

Plant and machinery	 5% – 10%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment	 20% – 33%

Motor vehicles	 10% – 20%

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 

owned assets, or where shorter, the term of relevant lease.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs 

of construction as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of construction and 

installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred 

to the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment when substantially all the activities 

necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation is 

provided for in respect of construction in progress until it is completed and ready for its 

intended use.

(e)	 Investment properties

Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value 

reflecting market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)	 Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group or the Company reviews the carrying amounts 

of the following assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

suffered an impairment loss or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may 

have decreased:

–	 property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets);

–	 interests in subsidiaries; and

–	 other intangible assets

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the 

recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not 

been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a previously recognised impairment loss subsequently reverses, only if there has been a 

change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, the carrying 

amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 

recoverable amount to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 

the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g)	 Financial Instruments

(i)	 Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing 

component) is initially measured at fair value plus, transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing 

component is initially measured at the transaction price.

Purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 

assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the market 

place are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to 

purchase or sell the asset.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model 

for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three 

measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those 

cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 

amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the 

effective interest rate method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in 

profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group could 

irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other 

comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are 

measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss unless the 

dividend income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investments. 

Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and are not 

reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified as fair value 

through profit or loss, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest income are 

recognised in profit or loss.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g)	 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)	 Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on trade 

receivables, financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments 

measured at FVTOCI. The ECLs are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 

12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 

months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all 

possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum 

period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which 

the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as 

the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance 

with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is 

then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS 9 

simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has 

established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 

economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-month ECLs. However, 

when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance 

will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 

initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and 

supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This 

includes both quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical 

experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if 

it is more than 30 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 

information that a more lagging default criteria is more appropriate.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is 

unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to 

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 

90 days past due or unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that a 

more lagging default criteria is more appropriate.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the amortised 

cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non 

credit-impaired financial assets interest income is calculated based on the gross 

carrying amount.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g)	 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)	 Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the 

liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at 

fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

(iv)	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables and borrowings 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The 

related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 

well as through the amortisation process.

(v)	 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the 

relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial asset or 

liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(vi)	 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash 

flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been 

transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with 

HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant 

contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)	 Leasing

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial position as right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities, except for short-term leases with a duration of 12 months or less 

and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments 

which have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the 

underlying asset is available for use).

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the 

initial measurement of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for 

lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any 

lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate 

of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling, removing or restoring the leased asset. 

Except for right-of-use assets that meets the definition of an investment property, the Group 

measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model.

The Group accounts for land and buildings that are held for rental or capital appreciation 

purpose under HKAS 40 and are carried at fair value. The Group accounts for land and 

buildings which is held for own use under HKAS 16 and are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)	 Leasing (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value 

of the lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments are discounted 

using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate 

cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset during the lease term that are 

not paid at the commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed 

payments less any lease incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an 

index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii) 

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the 

exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option 

and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee 

exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability by: (i) 

increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying 

amount to reflect the lease payments made; and iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect 

any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments arising from 

change in an index or rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed 

lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a number of tenants. Rental income from 

operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are 

added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the 

straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)	 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

(i)	 Current tax

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that 

are non-assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax 

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

(ii)	 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in 

the computation of taxable profit. In respect of deferred tax liabilities arising from 

investment properties measured at fair value, the presumption that recovery will be 

through sale has been rebutted.

(j)	 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions entered into by group entities are translated into their functional 

currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 

exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency monetary items 

and from the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the rates ruling at 

the end of reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value 

are included in profit or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the 

retranslation of monetary items in respect of which gains or losses are recognised in other 

comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income.

On consolidation, all assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill arising on 

the acquisition of those operations, are translated into HK$ at the applicable rates of exchange 

ruling at the end of reporting period. Income and expenses items of foreign operations are 

translated at an average rate for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly 

during the period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 

The resulting translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the exchange translation reserve. Exchange differences recognised in profit or 

loss of group entities’ individual financial statements on translation of long-term monetary items 

forming part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations are reclassified to other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange translation reserve on consolidation.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)	 Employees’ benefits

(i)	 Short term benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves and the cost of non-monetary benefits 

(other than termination benefits) are accrued in the year in which the associated services 

are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect 

would be material, these amounts are stated at their present value.

(ii)	 Pension obligations

Contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) as required 

under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance are charged to 

profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s entities which operate in the PRC are required to 

participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. 

These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of its payroll costs to 

the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they 

become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

(iii)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer 

withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs 

involving the payment of termination benefits.
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4.	 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets 

which require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use, are capitalised as 

part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 

intended use. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 

they are incurred.

(m)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is 

transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, excluding those amounts 

collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and 

is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Transmission and distribution of natural gas

Revenue from the sale of natural gas is recognised at a point in time when the control of the 

natural gas is transferred to the customer, that is upon delivery at the location specified in the 

contract. Revenue is recognised at the contractually stated price based on the quantity of 

natural gas delivered in accordance with meter readings. The Group recognises revenue on a 

gross basis as the Group control the natural gas before transferring it to a customer. Invoices 

for selling and distribution natural gas to corporate customers are issued on a monthly basis, 

partial prepayment is required and the outstanding balance is due by 5 working days after 

billing date. Sales to individual customers are on cash-on-delivery basis.

Sale of heat and biomass gasification related products

Revenue from the sale of heat is recognised at a point in time when the control of the heat is 

transferred to the customer, upon delivery at the location specified in the contract. Revenue is 

recognised at the contractually stated price based on the quantity of heat delivered in 

accordance with meter readings. The Group recognises revenue on a gross basis as the Group 

control the heat before transferring it to a customer. Invoices for selling and distribution of heat 

is issued on a monthly basis, full prepayment is required and no credit period is granted.

Customers obtain control of biomass gasification related products when the goods are 

delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue is recognised at a point in time upon when the 

customers accepted the goods, without any right of return, rebate granted or variable 

consideration. There is generally one performance obligation. Invoices for sale of biomass 

gasification related products are issued on a monthly basis and are due by 3 working days 

after billing date.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions, which are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 

and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 

estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions 

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year and the critical judgement made by the Group are discussed 

below:

(a)	 Carrying value of non-current assets and impairment of assets

Non-current assets, including property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and other 

intangible assets, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation, where 

appropriate, and impairment losses. These carrying amounts are reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be 

recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 

value less costs of disposal and value in use. In estimating the recoverable amounts of assets, 

various assumptions, including future cash flows to be associated with the non-current assets 

and discount rates, are made. If future events do not correspond to such assumptions, the 

recoverable amounts will need to be revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s 

results of operations or financial position.

(b)	 Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of fair value less costs of 

disposal of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The determination 

of fair value less costs of disposal requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows 

expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 

calculate the present value.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(c)	 Fair value measurement

The fair value measurement of certain of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets utilises 

market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value 

measurements are categorised into different levels based on how observable the inputs used in 

the valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

•	 Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items (unadjusted);

•	 Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1 inputs;

•	 Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs 

used that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items 

between levels are recognised in the period they occur.

The Group measures the below items at fair value:

–	 Investment properties (Note 17);

–	 Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI (Note 21); and

–	 Investments held for trading (Note 25).

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement of the items above, 

please refer to the applicable notes as indicated.

(d)	 Deferred tax liabilities

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes arising from investment properties that are 

measured using the fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s 

investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are held 

under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 

embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in 

determining the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors of the 

Company have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment 

properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. 

As a result, the Group has recognised the deferred taxes on changes in fair value of all 

investment properties at enterprise income tax rate.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(e)	 Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a judgement by the directors 

of the Company, at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions 

which are inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company consider that the Group and the 

Company have the capabilities to continue as a going concern and the major events and 

conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast 

significant doubt upon the going concern assumptions and related mitigating measures taken 

by management are set out in Note 3(b).

6.	 REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

Transmission and distribution of natural gas 142,773 142,712

Sale of heat and biomass gasification related products 23,890 26,874

Revenue from other sources

Gross rental income 16,779 15,097
   

183,442 184,683
   

Trade receivables from contracts with customers as at 31 December 2023 amounted to 
HK$17,265,000 (2022: HK$17,429,000).
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports that are used by the chief 
operating decision-maker to make strategic decisions.

The Group’s reportable segments are managed separately as each business offers different products 
and requires different business strategies. The following summary describes the operations of each of 
the Group’s reportable segments:

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15

–	 Transmission and distribution of natural gas
–	 Sale of heat and biomass gasification related products

Revenue from other sources

–	 Property investment

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposit and other unallocated 
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and corporate 
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

There was no inter-segment sale or transfer during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. 

Central revenue and expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are not included in 

the measurement of the segment result that is used by the chief operating decision-maker for 

assessment of segment performance.
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)	 Reportable segments

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Transmission
and

distribution
of natural gas

Sale of
heat and
biomass

gasification
related

products
Property 

investment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 142,773 23,890 16,779 183,442
     

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 13,021 (3,663) 3,285 12,643
     

Reportable segment assets 349,199 107,661 233,285 690,145
     

Reportable segment liabilities (245,439) (26,214) (40,820) (312,473)
     

Other segment information:
Bank interest income 259 7 13 279
Unallocated 420

 

Total bank interest income 699
 

Write off of property, plant and equipment (39) (52) – (91)

Depreciation (9,129) (3,864) (4,376) (17,369)
Unallocated (781)

 

Total depreciation (18,150)
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)	 Reportable segments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

Transmission
and

distribution
of natural gas

Sale of
heat and
biomass

gasification
related

products
Property 

investment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amortisation of other intangible assets (378) – – (378)

Impairment loss on trade receivables (439) – – (439)

Reversal of impairment loss on trade 

receivables 1,219 – 320 1,539

Reversal of impairment loss on other 

receivables and prepayments 130 – – 130

Loss arising from changes in fair value of 

investment properties – – (3,459) (3,459)

Additions to non-current assets 124,838 5,820 366 131,024
Unallocated 700

 

Total additions to non-current assets 131,724
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)	 Reportable segments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Transmission

and

distribution

of natural gas

Sale of

heat and

biomass

gasification

related

products

Property 

investment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 142,712 26,874 15,097 184,683     

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 15,246 (1,550) 9,109 22,805     

Reportable segment assets 252,895 109,563 248,446 610,904     

Reportable segment liabilities (139,422) (23,163) (40,037) (202,622)     

Other segment information:

Bank interest income 395 11 7 413

Unallocated 2,421 

Total bank interest income 2,834 

Gain on disposal of assets classified as 

held for sale 9,426 – – 9,426

Impairment loss on property,  

plant and equipment – – (3,282) (3,282)

Write off of property, plant and equipment (172) – – (172)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment – (13) – (13)

Unallocated 73 

Total gain on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment 60 

Depreciation (9,563) (3,282) (3,572) (16,417)

Unallocated (890) 

Total depreciation (17,307) 
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)	 Reportable segments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Transmission

and

distribution

of natural gas

Sale of

heat and

biomass

gasification

related

products

Property 

investment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amortisation of other intangible assets (378) – – (378)

Impairment loss on trade receivables (613) – – (613)

Reversal of impairment loss on trade 

receivables 571 – 14 585

Reversal of impairment loss on other 

receivables and prepayments, net 178 – 272 450

Loss arising from changes in fair value of 

investment properties – – (2,028) (2,028)

Additions to non-current assets 108,584 17,276 1,532 127,392

Unallocated 3,982 

Total additions to non-current assets 131,374 
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)	 Reconciliation of reportable segment profit/(loss), assets and liabilities

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax
Total reportable segment’s profit 12,643 22,805

Unallocated other income and gains and losses 510 4,347

Corporate and other unallocated expenses (21,619) (29,103)

Finance costs (8,617) (6,360)
   

Consolidated loss before income tax (17,083) (8,311)
   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Total reportable segment’s assets 690,145 610,904

Cash and cash equivalents 30,644 33,159

Pledged bank deposit – 56,536

Unallocated corporate assets 34,497 37,922
   

Consolidated total assets 755,286 738,521
   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Liabilities
Total reportable segment’s liabilities (312,473) (202,622)

Deferred tax liabilities (24,268) (25,825)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (117,931) (174,656)
   

Consolidated total liabilities (454,672) (403,103)
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(c)	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time of HK$166,663,000 

from its transmission and distribution of natural gas and sale of heat and biomass gasification 

related products for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$169,586,000).

The Group derives revenue in the following product lines and geographical regions.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Transmission
and

distribution
of natural 

gas

Sale of
heat and
biomass

gasification
related

products
Property 

investment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Primary geographical markets
PRC 142,773 23,890 16,779 183,442
     

Major products/services
Sale of goods 142,773 23,890 – 166,663
Rental income – – 16,779 16,779
     

142,773 23,890 16,779 183,442
     

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Primary geographical markets
PRC 142,712 26,874 15,097 184,683
     

Major products/services
Sale of goods 142,712 26,874 – 169,586

Rental income – – 15,097 15,097
     

142,712 26,874 15,097 184,683
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7.	 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(c)	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 

was derived from the PRC (place of domicile).

(d)	 Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from a customer in transmission and 

distr ibution of natural gas segment amounted to HK$74,135,000 which contributed 

approximately 40% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue from a customer in transmission and 

distribution of natural gas segment amounted to HK$123,099,000 which contributed 

approximately 67% of the Group’s total revenue.

8.	 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 699 2,834

Sundry income 1,027 2,403

Foreign exchange gains/(losses), net 105 (391)

Write off of property, plant and equipment (91) (172)

Fair value loss on investments held for trading (16) (36)

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment – (3,282)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 60

Government grants

– Employment Support Scheme (Note) – 182
   

1,724 1,598
   

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount represented salaries and wages subsidies granted under 

Anti-epidemic Fund by Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
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9.	 FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans and other borrowings 11,879 8,621
Interest on loans from a major shareholder 4,827 4,550
Interest on lease liabilities 456 654
   

17,162 13,825

Less: Amount capitalised (Note) (8,545) (7,465)
   

8,617 6,360
   

Note:	 Borrowing costs of approximately HK$5,056,000 (2022: HK$Nil) incurred in respect of bank borrowings 

made specifically for the purpose of acquisition and construction of qualifying assets have been capitalised 

as part of the cost of those assets. Other borrowing costs of approximately HK$3,489,000 (2022: 

HK$7,465,000) arose from the general borrowing pool have also been capitalised for the year and are 

calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 5% (2022: 8%).

10.	 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of inventories sold 128,881 135,784

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– owned 14,508 13,247
– right-of-use assets 3,642 4,060

18,150 17,307
   

Items included in other operating expenses:
Auditor’s remuneration 1,280 1,280
Short-term lease expenses 525 373
Building management fees for self-used office premises 581 250
Investment property management fees 2,985 3,231
Entertainment and trip expenses 3,544 2,362
Legal and professional fees 900 1,486
Research and development expenses 1,007 827
Motor vehicle expenses 2,401 2,963
Other tax expenses 3,288 3,618
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11.	 INCOME TAX

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – PRC

– tax for the year 3,407 4,016

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 32)

– current year (865) (507)
   

Total income tax expense for the year 2,542 3,509
   

No provision has been made for Hong Kong profits tax as the Group has no assessable profit arising 
from Hong Kong subsidiaries during the current and prior years.

Fujian China Primary Energy Limited (“Fujian CP Energy”) and Huaining China Primary Energy Limited 

(“Huaining CP Energy”) obtained 高新技術企業證書 (High Technology Enterprise Certificate). Both 
Fujian CP Energy and Huaining CP Energy entitled to enjoy the enterprise income tax at the 
concessionary rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

For the Group’s other operating subsidiaries in the PRC, in accordance with the PRC Enterprise Income 
Tax Law approved by the National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 and became effective from  
1 January 2008, they are subject to enterprise income tax (“EIT”) at the unified EIT rate of 25%.

Income tax for the year can be reconciled to accounting loss, at applicable tax rates:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (17,083) (8,311)
   

Income tax credit calculated at the statutory

PRC EIT tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) (4,271) (2,078)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 1,471 2,211

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 4,634 2,794

Tax effect of non-taxable income (433) (1,414)

Tax effect of unused tax losses and other temporary 

differences not recognised 1,141 1,996
   

Income tax expense for the year 2,542 3,509
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12.	 DIVIDEND

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 

December 2023 (2022: Nil).

13.	 LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is 

based on the following data:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss:

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (17,500) (9,855)
   

Number of shares

2023 2022

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 1,023,987 1,023,987
   

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 did not assume the 

exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options since their exercise price exceeded average 

market price during 2022. There is no outstanding share options and other dilutive potential share as 

at 31 December 2023.
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14.	 STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances 19,340 19,198

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 1,698 1,657
   

21,038 20,855
   

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were neither contributions forfeited by the 

Group nor had there been any utilisation of such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. 

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no forfeited contributions which were available for 

utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions to the government defined 

contribution retirement benefit scheme.

15.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a)	 Executive directors and non-executive directors

Fees

Salaries,
allowances

and other 
benefits 

Discretionary
bonuses

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2023
Executive directors:

Ms. Ma Zheng – 1,660 – 18 1,678
Mr. Yuan Geng – 878 – 18 896

      

– 2,538 – 36 2,574
      

Non-executive director:

Mr. Ji Jianghua 180 – – – 180
      

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence 180 – – – 180
Mr. Chung Chin Keung 180 – – – 180
Mr. Sung Ren Keh (Note (iii)) 152 – – – 152
Mr. Wang Xiao Bing (Note (iv)) 28 – – – 28

      

540 – – – 540
      

720 2,538 – 36 3,294
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15.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 
(Continued)

(a)	 Executive directors and non-executive directors (Continued)

Fees

Salaries,

 allowances

and other 

benefits

Discretionary

bonuses

Retirement 

benefit scheme 

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022
Executive directors:

Ms. Ma Zheng – 1,665 – 18 1,683

Ms. Wong Pui Yiu (Note (v)) – 52 – 2 54

Mr. Yuan Geng – 812 – 18 830
      

– 2,529 – 38 2,567
      

Non-executive director:

Mr. Ji Jianghua 180 – – – 180
      

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence 180 – – – 180

Mr. Chung Chin Keung 180 – – – 180

Mr. Wang Xiao Bing (Note (iv)) 180 – – – 180
      

540 – – – 540
      

720 2,529 – 38 3,287
      

Notes:

(i)	 During the current and prior years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any directors as an 

inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. There were no 

arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the 

current and prior years.

(ii)	 Salaries, allowances and other benefits paid to or for the executive directors are generally 

emoluments in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the management of the 

affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

(iii)	 Mr. Sung Ren Keh was appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company with effect 

from 1 March 2023.

(iv)	 Mr. Wang Xiao Bing resigned as independent non-executive director with effect from 1 March 2023.

(v)	 Mr. Wong Pui Yiu retired as an executive director of the Company with effect from 1 February 2022.
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15.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 
(Continued)

(b)	 Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals during the year included two (2022: two) directors, details of 

whose remuneration are set out in Note 15(a) above. Details of the remuneration of the 

remaining three (2022: three) non-director, highest paid individuals for the year are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, share options and other benefits 1,714 1,633

Discretionary bonuses 123 102

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 54 54
   

1,891 1,789
   

Their emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2023 2022

HK$Nil – HK$500,000 2 2

HK$500,001 – HK$1,000,000 1 1
   

3 3
   

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management other than directors were 

within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2023 2022

HK$500,001 – HK$1,000,000 1 1
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16.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

    Furniture,    
    fixtures    

Land and Land Leasehold Computer Plant and and office Motor Construction  
buildings use rights improvements equipment machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2022 140,810 28,606 358 3,795 109,549 1,505 16,790 54,194 355,607
Additions 354 3,946 – 164 314 54 340 112,821 117,993
Disposals – – – – – – (481) – (481)
Write off – – – (4) – – – (172) (176)
Lease modification (436) – – – – – – – (436)
Reclassification 6,653 – – 303 12,561 196 613 (20,326) –
Exchange realignment (10,913) (2,344) (20) (557) (9,741) (419) (848) (6,627) (31,469)
          

As 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 136,468 30,208 338 3,701 112,683 1,336 16,414 139,890 441,038

Additions 782 – – 68 39 343 – 129,615 130,847
Write off – – – (50) (385) (221) – – (656)
Reclassification 31,928 – – – 194 – – (32,122) –
Exchange realignment (4,935) (813) (7) (103) (1,866) (43) (410) (3,904) (12,081)
          

As 31 December 2023 164,243 29,395 331 3,616 110,665 1,415 16,004 233,479 559,148

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment

At 1 January 2022 48,813 7,188 65 1,872 45,428 801 10,719 – 114,886
Depreciation 5,909 705 41 448 8,629 185 1,390 – 17,307
Disposals – – – – – – (411) – (411)
Impairment loss 3,282 – – – – – – – 3,282
Lease modification (436) – – – – – – – (436)
Write Off – – – (4) – – – – (4)
Exchange realignment (4,032) (582) (4) (122) (3,529) (198) (811) – (9,278)
          

As 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 53,536 7,311 102 2,194 50,528 788 10,887 – 125,346

Depreciation 7,263 702 41 484 8,186 211 1,263 – 18,150
Write Off – – – (25) (312) (228) – – (565)
Exchange realignment (1,508) (200) (1) (56) (821) (24) (278) – (2,888)
          

As 31 December 2023 59,291 7,813 142 2,597 57,581 747 11,872 – 140,043

Net carrying amount
As 31 December 2023 104,952 21,582 189 1,019 53,084 668 4,132 233,479 419,105
          

As 31 December 2022 82,932 22,897 236 1,507 62,155 548 5,527 139,890 315,692
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16.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Note:

(i)	 Right-of-use assets are included in items of property, plant and equipment as summarised below:

Land and 
buildings

Land 
use rights

Plant and 
machinery Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022 8,456 21,418 25,478 55,352

Additions 435 3,946 – 4,381

Depreciation (2,276) (705) (1,079) (4,060)

Exchange realignment (536) (1,762) (1,971) (4,269)
     

At 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 6,079 22,897 22,428 51,404

Additions 733 – – 733

Depreciation (1,913) (702) (1,027) (3,642)

Exchange realignment (141) (613) (601) (1,355)
     

At 31 December 2023 4,758 21,582 20,800 47,140
     

The Group leases various items of plant and machinery used in its operations with lease terms of 3 years. 

The leases do not have option to renew or any contingent rental provisions. Leases of these right-of-use 

assets are secured by corporate guarantee of a subsidiary of the Company, personal guarantee by a major 

shareholder of the Company, Ms. Ma Zheng, and director of the Company, Mr Yuan Geng.

(ii)	 As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s land and buildings of approximately HK$68,033,000 (2022: 

HK$54,264,000) and construction in progress of HK$Nil (2022: HK$30,252,000) were pledged to secure 

bank borrowings granted to the Group (Note 31).

(iii)	 During the year ended 31 December 2022, due to the continuously decline in the property market prices in 

the PRC, the Group recognised an impairment loss of HK$3,282,000 to write down the carrying amount of 

certain properties of HK$17,954,000 to its recoverable amount of HK$14,756,000. The Group determined 

the recoverable amount of these assets based on its fair value less costs of disposal estimated by using 

the direct comparison approach which based on significant inputs of the Group’s properties in the PRC, 

including price per square compared to the recent sales on the comparable transactions. The valuation 

was carried out by an independent valuer. The fair value less costs of disposal of properties is classified as 

a Level 2 measurement.
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17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties are industrial properties in the PRC. The fair value of the Group’s 
investment properties at the end of the reporting period was determined based on market valuation 
performed by Fairdex Valuation Advisory Limited (“Fairdex”), an independent valuer who holds a 
recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and 
category of the investment properties being valued.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further details of which 
are included in Note 36.

The fair value of investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation 
of the opening and closing fair value balance is provided below:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening balance 208,492 228,406
Additions

–  subsequent expenditure 177 –
Loss from remeasurement to fair value (3,459) (2,028)
Exchange realignment (5,600) (17,886)
   

Closing balance 199,610 208,492
   

The fair value is determined by applying the income approach, using the investment method whereby 
the estimated market rental receivables during the term of the tenancies are capitalised at appropriate 
yield with due allowance for the revisionary income potential of the properties.

Significant unobservable inputs

2023 2022

Term yield 5.5% 5.5%
Reversionary yield 6.5% 6.5%
Market rental RMB12.0 to 13.2 

per square meter
RMB12.0 to 13.2 

per square meter

The higher the term yield and reversionary yield, the lower the fair value. The higher the rental growth 
rate, the higher the fair value. There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest and best use, which does not 
differ from their actual use.
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17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Since significant judgement is required when evaluating the inputs used in the fair value estimate, 

reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to any of the relevant assumptions would have 

affected the fair value of the investment property as presented below:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Term yield decreased by 1% (2022: 1%) 1,270 2,148
Reversionary yield decreased by 1% (2022: 1%) 19,220 22,049
Market value decreased by 5% (2022: 5%) (6,700) (7,146)

  

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers in to or out of Level 3 
or any other Level. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between Levels of the fair value 
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s investment properties with aggregate carrying value 
of HK$190,379,000 (2022: HK$159,543,000) were pledged to secure the bank loans granted to the 
Group as set out in Note 31.
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18.	 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as 

follows:

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Particulars of 
issued and 
paid up capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activity

 

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held
by the

Company
Held by 

subsidiary

e-gameasia.com Ltd British Virgin Islands 

(“BVI”)

10,279,450 ordinary shares 

of HK$1 each

100% 100% – Investment holding

Billybala Software (BVI) Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of 

US$0.01 each

100% 100% – Investment holding

China Primary Energy Holdings 

Limited

BVI 20,000,000 ordinary shares 

of US$1 each

100% 100% – Investment holding

Billybala iGame Limited Hong Kong 7 ordinary shares of HK$1 

each

100% – 100% Provision of 

administrative services 

to group companies

China Primary Sky Valley (Yichang) 

Composites Co. Ltd. (Note (iii))

PRC RMB66,596,816 100% – 100% Property investment

China Primary Energy (Shenzhen) 

Limited (Note (iii))

PRC HK$250,000,000 100% – 100% Investment holding

China Primary (Shenzhen) Energy 

Technology Co. Ltd. (Note (iii))

PRC HK$20,696,000 100% – 100% Provision of 

administrative services 

to group companies

Fujian China Primary Energy Limited 

(Note (iii))

PRC RMB20,000,000 70% – 70% Transmission and 

distribution of natural 

gas

Tengchong China Primary Energy 

Limited (Note (iii))

PRC RMB20,000,000 100% – 100% Transmission and 

distribution of natural 

gas

Yichang China Primary Natural Gas 

Utilisation Company Limited  

(Note (iii))

PRC RMB60,170,000 

(2022: RMB48,480,000)

51% – 51% Transition and 

distribution of natural 

gas
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18.	 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Particulars of 
issued and 
paid up capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activity

 

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held
by the

Company
Held by 

subsidiary

Three Gorges Changgang New Energy 
(Yichang) Company Limited (Note (iii))

PRC RMB3,616,000 100% – 100% Development and use of 
new energy technology

China Primary (Yichang) Plastic Pipes 
Company Limited (Note (iii))

PRC HK$127,987,514 100% – 100% Property investment

China Primary (Yichang) New Energy 
Company Limited (Note (iii))

PRC RMB7,254,559 100% – 100% Property investment

China Primary (Yichang) New Materials 
Company Limited  
(Note (iii))

PRC RMB10,485,600 100% – 100% Property investment

Anqing China Primary Energy Company 
Limited (Note (iii))

PRC RMB40,000,000 85% – 85% Sale of heat and biomass 
gasification related 
products

Huaining China Primary Energy Limited 
(Note (iii))

PRC RMB40,000,000 85% – 100% Sale of heat and biomass 
gasification related 
products

Wuhu Shi Da New Energy Technology 
Company Limited (Note (iii), (iv))

PRC RMB41,000,000 
(2022: RMB30,000,000)

93.9%
(2022: 91.67%)

– 93.9%
(2022: 91.67%)

Transmission and 
distribution of natural gas

Nanping China Primary Natural  
Gas Logistics Company Limited  
(Note (iii))

PRC RMB10,000,000 70% – 100% Transmission and 
distribution of natural gas

Notes:

(i)	 The business structure of each of these subsidiaries is limited liability company.

(ii)	 None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

(iii)	 The English name of the subsidiary represents the best effort by the Company’s management to translate 

from its Chinese name as this subsidiary has no official English name.

(iv)	 During the year, the Group made additional capital contribution of RMB11,000,000 into this subsidiary and 

the Group’s equity interest was then increased from 91.67% to 93.9%.

In the opinion of the directors, the above subsidiaries principally affected the results of the Group for 

the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other 

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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19.	 GOODWILL

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 15,725 17,063

Exchange realignment (423) (1,338)
   

At 31 December 15,302 15,725
   

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recognised goodwill in total of HK$15,302,000 (2022: 
HK$15,725,000) arising from the acquisition of two businesses engaged in transmission and 
distribution of natural gas in the PRC.

Impairment testing on goodwill
For goodwill impairment testing purposes, the goodwill carrying amounts were allocated to the CGUs 
represented by two businesses acquired as below:

2023 2022

CGU 1 – 
Fujian CP 

Energy

CGU 2 – 
Wuhu 

Shi Da Total

CGU 1 – 

Fujian CP 

Energy

CGU 2 – 

Wuhu 

Shi Da Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 13,520 2,205 15,725 14,670 2,393 17,063

Exchange realignment (364) (59) (423) (1,150) (188) (1,338)
       

13,156 2,146 15,302 13,520 2,205 15,725
       

The directors of the Company determined the recoverable amounts of the CGUs from their value in 
use based on the business valuations performed by an independent firm of professional valuer, 
Fairdex, using the income approach. The income approach was adopted to arrive at fair value of the 
CGUs, based on cash flow projections by applying the following key assumptions.

2023 2022

CGU 1 CGU 2 CGU 1 CGU 2

Long-term growth rate beyond five year 2% 2% 2% 2%

Pre-tax discount rate 17.36% 22.73% 19.74% 25.29%

Gross margin 29% 13% 37% 7%

The key assumptions were determined based on past performance and management’s expectations 
of market development. The discount rates used reflect specific risks relating to the two businesses.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
The directors of the Company concluded that both CGU 1 and CGU 2 demonstrated sufficient cash 
flows to justify the carrying value of the goodwill, and management is not currently aware of any other 
possible changes that would necessitate changes in the key assumptions. Since the recoverable 
amounts of both CGU 1 and CGU 2 were exceeded the respective carrying amount of those CGUs, 
and therefore no impairment of goodwill was necessary for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022.
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20.	 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer
relationships

HK$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2022 3,788

Exchange realignment (273)
  

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 3,515

Exchange realignment (54)
  

At 31 December 2023 3,461
  

Amortisation
At 1 January 2022 2,853

Amortisation 378

Exchange realignment (233)
  

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2,998

Amortisation 378

Exchange realignment (83)
  

At 31 December 2023 3,293
  

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2023 168

At 31 December 2022 517
  

Customer relationships was recognised by the Group upon the acquisition of Fujian CP Energy in 

2014 and is amortised on a straight-line method over the period of 10 years.

The Group’s goodwill (Note 19) and customer relationships listed above which arose from the 

business acquisition of Fujian CP Energy in 2014 are allocated to the CGU 1 in relation to the Group’s 

natural gas business for impairment testing as detailed in Note 19.
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21.	 EQUITY INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value (Note (b)) 8,903 13,220

Listed equity securities, at fair value (Note (c)) 43 156
   

8,946 13,376
   

Notes:

(a)	 The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive 

income as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

(b)	 The balance represented the Group’s equity interest in Yichang City Yiling District China Primary Thermal 

Power Limited, a private company established in the PRC, as investment held for long-term strategic 

purpose. The fair value of this unlisted equity investment is classified as a Level 3 measurement and is 

estimated based on the Group’s share of the investee company’s net asset value as at the end of the 

reporting period, as determined by an independent firm of professional valuer.

(c)	 The balance represented the listed equity securities which are listed and traded on the OTC Pink in the 

United States. The fair value was based on quoted market price as at 31 December 2023.

22.	 INVENTORIES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 8,060 8,140
   

The cost of finished goods is calculated using weighted average method as at 31 December 2023 

and 2022.
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23.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 24,994 26,893

Less: provision for impairment (6,020) (8,161)
   

18,974 18,732
   

(a)	 The group granted a credit period of 3 and 5 working days after the billing date to customers 
relating to sale of biomass gasification related products and transmission and distribution of 
natural gas respectively. For the sale of heat business, no credit period is granted to 
customers. For the business of property investment, tenants are required to pay rentals, 
generally 1 to 3 months, in advance. The Group sets a maximum credit limit for each customer 
and seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. The sales department and 
the management of the responsible department for the sales together perform the credit control 
function to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed and followed up regularly by 
senior management. Further details on the Group’s credit risk arising from trade debtors and 
related impairment assessment are set out in Note 41(a).

(b)	 The table below reconciled the provision for impairment loss of trade receivables for the year:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 8,161 8,755

Impairment loss recognised 439 613

Reversal of impairment loss (1,539) (585)

Amount written off as uncollectible (849) –

Exchange realignment (192) (622)
   

At 31 December 6,020 8,161
   

Note:

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in Note 4(g)(ii).

(c)	 An ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of impairment loss) as at the end of reporting 

period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 18,362 18,421

31 – 60 days 149 –

61 – 90 days 73 –

Over 90 days 390 311
   

18,974 18,732
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23.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(d)	 An ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of impairment loss) that are neither individually nor 

collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Not past due 17,857 18,421
   

Less than 31 days past due 654 –

31 – 60 days past due 73 –

61 – 90 days past due 73 –

Over 90 days but less than 1 year past due 291 311

More than 1 year past due 26 –
   

1,117 311
   

18,974 18,732
   

(e)	 The Group has not pledged any of its trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

24.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(a)

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other receivables and deposits 16,851 36,870

Value added tax recoverable 23,162 12,229

Prepayments 18,009 16,509
   

58,022 65,608

Less: �provision for impairment loss on other 

  receivables and prepayments (7,531) (8,218)
   

50,491 57,390
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24.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 The below table reconciled the provision for impairment loss on other receivables and 

prepayments for the year:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 8,218 9,405

Reversal of impairment loss (130) (450)

Exchange realignment (557) (737)
   

At 31 December 7,531 8,218
   

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set out in Note 41(a).

25.	 INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities held at fair value

– listed in Hong Kong 27 43
   

26.	 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank deposit of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$56,536,000) 

was pledged to secure bank borrowings of RMB45,000,000 (equivalent to HK$50,882,000) (Note 31). 

Such pledge of bank deposit was released during the year and the Group has not pledged any of its 

bank deposits as at 31 December 2023.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances 

are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of cash 

and cash equivalents approximate their fair values.

At the end of the reporting period, pledged bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents of the Group 

denominated in RMB amounted to HK$30,428,000 (2022: HK$89,350,000). RMB is not freely 

convertible into other currencies. However, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations 

and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group 

is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign 

exchange business.
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27.	 DISPOSAL OF ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE IN PREVIOUS YEAR

The Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Tengchong China Primary Energy Limited (“Tengchong CP”), 

was established in November 2014 which obtained the right to engage in the business of transmission 

and distribution of natural gas within the area of Tengchong CP, the PRC. In order to fulfil the request 

of the local government due to certain change of local policy and city planning, the Group and the 

local government of Tengchong CP reached an agreement during the year, pursuant to which 

Tengchong CP agreed to cease its operation of transmission and distribution of natural gas in 

Tengchong CP and transfer all related property, plant and equipment to the local government, and in 

return the local government agreed to pay a compensation of RMB23,997,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$29,443,000) to Tengchong CP. The related property, plant and equipment with total 

carrying amount of RMB15,658,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$19,212,000) were reclassified as 

held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021. This 

transaction is not constituted as a discontinued operation of the Group. The disposal (i.e. the transfer 

of control of assets) was completed during the year ended 31 December 2022 and resulted in a gain 

on disposal on assets classified as held for sale of HK$9,426,000.

28.	 TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 7,745 7,931

31 – 60 days 749 59

61 – 90 days 630 2,367

Over 90 days 3,446 2,116
   

12,570 12,473
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29.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current
Contract liabilities 2,172 –

Other payables and accruals 27,302 47,897

Rental deposit received 4,531 4,445
   

34,005 52,342
   

Non-current
Other payables 25,056 –
   

25,056 –
   

Total 59,061 52,342
   

(a)	 Other payables and accruals mainly included the construction cost payable to contractors of 

HK$10,113,000 (2022: HK$6,724,000) and the amount o f  HK$25,056,000 (2022: 

HK$15,573,000) payable to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, which is unsecured, 

interest-bearing at 4.9% per annum and repayable by 31 December 2025 (2022: interest 

bearing at 4.9% per annum and repayable by 31 December 2023).

(b)	 The Group received advance payments from customers for its business of transmission and 

distribution of natural gas and sale of heat and biomass gasification related products. These 

contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when control of goods is transferred to the 

customers.

Movements in contract liabilities 2023
HK$’000

At 1 January –
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receipts in advance on  

sales of goods 2,172
  

At 31 December 2,172
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30.	 LOANS FROM A MAJOR SHAREHOLDER

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans from a major shareholder comprised of:

– current portion 943 1,325

– non-current portion 41,819 34,631
   

42,762 35,956
   

The balance represented loans advanced by Ms. Ma Zheng, a director and major shareholder of the 

Company. The loans are unsecured, interest-bearing at 15% (2022: 15%) per annum and repayable 

by 30 June 2025 (2022: 30 June 2024) and 30 June 2024 for the non-current and current portion 

respectively.

31.	 BANK BORROWINGS AND LOAN FACILITIES

(a)	 The Group had the following interest-bearing borrowings at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current
– secured bank term loans 66,432 88,689
– unsecured bank loans 1,210 84,898
– secured bank revolving loans – 50,882

   

67,642 224,469
   

Non-current
– secured bank term loans 226,221 38,969
– secured bank revolving loans 8,802 –

   

235,023 38,969
   

Total 302,665 263,438
   

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has bank borrowings of HK$175,008,000 made specifically 
for the purpose of acquisition and construction of qualifying assets. Maturity analysis of all bank 
borrowings is disclosed in Note 41(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of the interest-bearing borrowings was 
3.885% per annum (2022: 4.306% per annum).

The carrying amounts of all borrowings are carried at amortised cost and approximate their fair 
values which carry interest at fixed or variable rates.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in RMB.
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31.	 BANK BORROWINGS AND LOAN FACILITIES (Continued)

(a)	 The Group had the following interest-bearing borrowings at the end of the reporting period: 
(Continued)

The bank loans were secured by the following:

(i)	 Certain investment properties (Note 17) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

(ii)	 Certain property, plant and equipment (Note 16(ii)) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

(iii)	 Pledged bank deposit (Note 26) as at 31 December 2022;

(iv)	 Corporate guarantee by a subsidiary of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022;

(v)	 Corporate guarantee by a non-controlling shareholder as at 31 December 2023 and 
2022;

(vi)	 Corporate guarantees by certain independent third parties as at 31 December 2023 and 
2022;

(vii)	 Legal charge over properties of Ms. Ma Zheng, a major shareholder and director of the 
Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022; and

(viii)	 Personal guarantees by a director of a subsidiary, Mr. Wei Bu Ti and his spouse as at 31 
December 2023 and 2022.

(b)	 The Group’s undrawn bank and other loan facilities at the end of reporting period are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loan facilities
Expiring within one year – 4,692
Expiring in the second to fifth year inclusive 52,131 40,117
Expiring after fifth year (Note) 34,042 214,835
   

86,173 259,644
   

Other loan facilities
Expiring within one year – 7,044
Expiring in the second to fifth year inclusive 19,119 –
   

19,119 7,044
   

Total 105,292 266,688
   



99China Primary Energy Holdings Limited
 Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 DECEMBER 2023

31.	 BANK BORROWINGS AND LOAN FACILITIES (Continued)

The Group’s loan facilities were granted by three (2022: three) banks operated in the PRC and a 
non-controlling shareholder. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the undrawn bank facilities were 
secured by the following:

(i)	 Certain investment properties (Note 17);

(ii)	 Certain property, plant and equipment (Note 16(ii)); and

(iii)	 Legal charge over a property of Ms. Ma Zheng.

Note:	 Such bank loan facilities are related to the Group’s borrowings made specifically for the purpose of 

acquisition and construction of qualifying assets, which is subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to 

certain financial ratios for each draw down of loan. Management regularly monitors its compliance with 

these covenants. As at 31 December 2023, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had 

been breached (2022: Nil).

32.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Below set out the details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements during the year:

Fair value 
adjustments 
arising from 
acquisition 

of 
subsidiaries

Fair value 
adjustments 

on 
investment 
properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022 (944) (27,615) (28,559)
Charged to profit or loss for the year (Note 11) – 507 507
Exchange realignment 74 2,153 2,227
    

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 (870) (24,955) (25,825)
Charged to profit or loss for the year (Note 11) – 865 865
Exchange realignment 24 668 692
    

At 31 December 2023 (846) (23,422) (24,268)
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32.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$1,733,000 

(2022: HK$1,733,000) and the PRC of HK$65,192,000 (2022: HK$50,925,000) which are available for 

offset against future taxable profits of the group companies in which the losses arose for an indefinite 

period and for a period of five years respectively. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in 

respect of these losses as they have been arisen in respect of certain group companies that have 

been loss-making for some years.

33.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
Shares Amount

’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.0625 each at 1 January 2022, 

31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 1,920,000 120,000
   

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.0625 each at 1 January 2022, 

31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 1,023,987 63,999
   

34.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Group maintained a share option scheme for employee or compensation. All share-based 

employee compensation was settled in equity. The Group had no legal or constructive obligations to 

repurchase or settle the options.

On 8 May 2012, a share option scheme (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the 

shareholders of the Company. This scheme was in force for a period of ten years and expired on 8 

May 2022. All the 159,268,743 outstanding options granted under this scheme were lapsed. 

A new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the 

Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 17 May 2022 (the “Adoption Date”). 

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants 

who would contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. There are no material changes of the 

terms under the Share Option Scheme. Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board may, 

at its discretion, grant options to any full-time employee and any director of the Company or its 

subsidiaries, including any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors. The total 

number of shares which may fall to be issued upon exercise of all of the outstanding options granted 

and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes of the Company must not 

exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 

a period of ten years commencing the Adoption Date on which the scheme becomes unconditional.



101China Primary Energy Holdings Limited
 Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 DECEMBER 2023

34.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The definition of eligible person in the Share Option Scheme include full time or part time employees 

of the Group (including any directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether independent 

or not, of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) and any suppliers, consultants, agents, advisors and 

distributors who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or may contribute to the Group. 

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option 

Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of 

approval of the Share Option Scheme, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The 

number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period 

is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time, without prior 

approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted to independent non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share 

capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s 

shareholders.

Any grant of options to a connected person (including but not limited to a Director, chief executive or 

substantial shareholder) or its associates must be approved by the independent non-executive 

Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of the options).

Where options are proposed to be granted to a connected person who is also a substantial 

shareholder or an independent non-executive Director or their respective associates and if such grant 

would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options 

granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month 

period up to and including the date of grant to such person representing in aggregate over 0.1% of 

the total issued Shares and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the securities at 

the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then the proposed grant must be subject to the 

approval of shareholders of the Company taken on a poll in a general meeting. All connected persons 

of the Company must abstain from voting at such general meeting.

The exercise price for shares under the Share Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at its 

absolute discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the 

Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must 

be a Business Day, (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the daily 

quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of 

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on the date of grant. Any options granted under the 

Share Option Scheme shall end in any event not later than ten years from the Commencement Date 

(as defined in the Share Option Scheme). A nominal value of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of 

each grant of options.

No share options were granted by the Company and no share options were exercised or lapsed under 

the Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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34.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Share options under the Old Share Option Scheme granted on 10 April 2015

On 10 April 2015, the Company granted share options to eligible participants to subscribe for a total 

of 81,720,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.0625 each (with exercise price of HK$0.87 per share) in the 

share capital of the Company under the Old Share Option Scheme. Details of the share options 

granted and movement in such holding during the year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:

2022 Number of share options
 

Name or category
of participant Date of grant Exercise period

Exercise 
price per 

share

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January 
2022

Lapsed 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2022

HK$

Directors
Ms. Ma Zheng 10 April 2015 1 April 2018 – 7 May 2022 0.87 820,000 (820,000) –
Mr. Wong Pui Yiu (Note) 10 April 2015 1 April 2018 – 7 May 2022 0.87 3,500,000 (3,500,000) –
Mr. Yuan Geng 10 April 2015 1 April 2018 – 7 May 2022 0.87 8,000,000 (8,000,000) –
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence 10 April 2015 1 April 2018 – 7 May 2022 0.87 700,000 (700,000) –
Mr. Chung Chin Keung 10 April 2015 1 April 2018 – 7 May 2022 0.87 700,000 (700,000) –
Mr. Wang Xiao Bing 10 April 2015 1 April 2018 – 7 May 2022 0.87 700,000 (700,000) –
       

Sub-total 14,420,000 (14,420,000) –
       

Others
Employees 10 April 2015 1 April 2018 – 7 May 2022 0.87 42,450,000 (42,450,000) –
       

Sub-total 42,450,000 (42,450,000) –
       

Total 56,870,000 (56,870,000) –
       

Note:	 On 1 February 2022, Mr. Wong Pui Yiu retired as an executive director of the Company and the related 

3,500,000 share options were lapsed upon his retirement.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all these share options were lapsed, as detailed above 

and the corresponding share option reserve amounted to HK$24,066,000 was released upon the 

lapse of share options as stated in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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35.	 LEASE LIABILITIES

Set out below are the carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movement during the year:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 5,936 8,472
Interests 456 654
Lease payments (2,324) (3,092)
Addition 733 435
Exchange realignment (137) (533)
   

As at 31 December 4,664 5,936

Less: Current portion (1,709) (1,805)
   

Non-current portion 2,955 4,131
   

Future lease payments are due as follows:

Minimum 
lease 

payments Interest
Present 

value
31 December 

2023
31 December 

2023
31 December 

2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Not later than one year 2,033 324 1,709
Later than one year and not later than five years 3,306 351 2,955
    

5,339 675 4,664
    

Minimum 

lease 

payments 

31 December 

2022

Interest 

31 December 

2022

Present 

value 

31 December 

2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Not later than one year 2,268 463 1,805

Later than one year and not later than five years 4,335 649 3,686

Later than five years 452 7 445
    

7,055 1,119 5,936
    

During the year ended 31 December 2023, total lease paid by the Group was HK$2,324,000 
(including both principal and interest) (2022: HK$3,092,000).



104 China Primary Energy Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 DECEMBER 2023

36.	 OPERATING LEASES

As lessor

At the end of each reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in 

future periods in respect of leased properties under non-cancellable lease as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 17,022 16,181

Later than one year and not later than two years 12,756 17,381

Later than two years and not later than three years 14,799 14,908

Later than three years and not later than four years 12,110 16,481

Later than four years and not later than five years 10,074 13,607

Over five years 21,614 34,480
   

88,375 113,038
   

37.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted for but not provided:

– acquisition of property, plant and equipment 61,249 131,364
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38.	 NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)	 Non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has non-cash addition to right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities in the same amount of HK$733,000 (2022: HK$435,000) in respect 

of lease arrangements of land and buildings.

(b)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

Other 
payables

Loans from 
a major 

shareholder
Lease 

liabilities
Bank 

borrowings
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 – 35,956 5,936 263,438

Changes from cash flows:

Proceeds from bank borrowings – – – 352,931
Repayment of bank borrowings – – – (306,423)
Loans from a non-controlling shareholder of  

a subsidiary 25,158 – – –
Loans from a major shareholder – 2,528 – –
Repayment of loans from a major 

shareholder – (382) – –
Repayment of principal portion of lease 

liabilities – – (1,868) –
Interest on lease liabilities – – (456) –
Interest on borrowings (807) – – (11,072)
 

    

Total changes from financing cash flows 24,351 2,146 (2,324) 35,436

Other changes:

Interest on borrowings 807 4,660 – 11,072
Interest on lease liabilities – – 456 –
New lease liabilities – – 733 –
Exchange adjustments (102) – (137) (7,281)
 

    

Total other changes 705 4,660 1,052 3,791

At 31 December 2023 25,056 42,762 4,664 302,665
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38.	 NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (Continued)

Loans from 

a major 

shareholder Lease liabilities Bank borrowings

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2022 29,598 8,472 267,210

Changes from cash flows:

Proceeds from bank borrowings – – 169,232

Repayment of bank borrowings – – (151,597)

Loans from a major shareholder 2,016 – –

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities – (2,438) –

Interest on lease liabilities – (654) –

Interest on borrowings – – (8,536)
 

   

Total changes from financing cash flows 2,016 (3,092) 9,099

Other changes:

Interest on borrowings 4,342 – 8,536

Interest on lease liabilities – 654 –

New lease liabilities – 435 –

Exchange adjustments – (533) (21,407)
 

   

Total other changes 4,342 556 (12,871)

At 31 December 2022 35,956 5,936 263,438
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39.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, 

have been eliminated on consolidation. Except for those disclosed in Notes 15 and 30 of these 

consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other significant related party transactions during 

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Members of key management during the year comprised only of the directors whose remuneration is 

set out in Note 15(a) to the financial statements.

40.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts and equity attributable to owners of the Company, 

comprising share capital and reserves as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this 

review, the management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of 

capital. The Group has approximately 136% determined as the proportion of total debts to total equity 

as defined above.

The gearing ratios were as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total debts 345,427 299,394
   

Total equity 254,572 285,978
   

Gearing ratio 136% 105%
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41.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the normal course of the Group’s 

business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk. These risks are 

limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below.

(a)	 Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables, other receivables and 

cash and cash equivalents. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to 

these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers 

requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customers’ past history 

of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information 

specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the 

customers operate. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of trade 

receivables. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of 

each customer or counterparty. The default risk experienced in the industry in which the 

customers operate also has an influence on credit risk, but to a lesser extent. As at 31 

December 2023, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 74% (2022: 73%) of the total 

trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer in relation to transmit and 

distribution of natural gas segment. This largest customer represented a listed company in 

PRC.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, 

which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience 

does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss 

allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different 

customer bases.
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41.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)	 Credit risk (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for 

trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

As at 31 December 2023

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net 
carrying 
amount

(%) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Collective assessment
Current (not past due) – 17,857 – 17,857
Less than 31 days past due 0.01% 654 –* 654
31-60 days past due 0.05% 73 –* 73
61-90 days past due 0.70% 73 –* 73
Over 90 days but less than 1 year 

past due 8.20% 317 (26) 291
More than 1 year past due 96.42% 726 (700) 26

   

19,700 (726) 18,974
Individual assessment 100.00% 5,294 (5,294) –

   

24,994 (6,020) 18,974
   

*	 Amount less than HK$1,000

As at 31 December 2022

Expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Net
carrying 
amount

(%) HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Collective assessment
Current (not past due) – 18,421 – 18,421
Less than 31 days past due – – – –
31-60 days past due – – – –
61-90 days past due – – – –
Over 90 days but less than 1 year 

past due 10.37% 347 (36) 311
More than 1 year past due 100.00% 2,356 (2,356) –

   

21,124 (2,392) 18,732
Individual assessment 100.00% 5,769 (5,769) –

   

26,893 (8,161) 18,732
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41.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)	 Credit risk (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past three years. These rates 

are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which 

the historic data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic 

conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers for 

whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not individually credit-impaired related to a number of 

independent customers with good track of record with the Group.

Receivables that were past due but individually credit-impaired related to balance of a number 

of independent customers which have been long outstanding and management assessed them 

to be irrecoverable.

The movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the years 

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out to the consolidated financial statements (Note 

23(b)).

In assessing credit risk exposure from other receivables, the management individually 

assessed the credit loss of other receivables that have been long outstanding and assessed to 

be credit-impaired. As at 31 December 2023, reversal of impairment loss on these other 

receivables of HK$130,000 (2022: impairment loss of HK$450,000) was recognised. Other 

receivables not individually credit-impaired related to a number of independent third parties 

with good track of record with the Group. Therefore, the management considers there is a low 

risk of default and the expected credit loss from these other receivables is immaterial.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited because 

the counterparties are the major banks in PRC and Hong Kong with established credit ratings, 

for which the Group considers to have low credit risk. Given the high credit ratings of the 

banks, management does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet its obligations.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial 

asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from 

trade receivables and other receivables, deposits and prepayments are set out in Notes 23 and 

24 respectively.
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41.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)	 Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains 

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of reporting period of 

the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted 

cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based 

on rates current at the end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be required 

to pay.

Specifically, for bank loans which contain a repayment on demand clause which can be 

exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on the 

earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if the lenders were to invoke 

their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate effect.

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within 
1 year or 

on demand

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years

More than 
5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2023
Trade payables 12,570 12,570 12,570 – – –
Other payables and accruals 48,667 48,667 23,611 25,056 – –
Loans from a major shareholder 42,762 42,762 943 41,819 – –
Lease liabilities 4,664 4,664 1,709 1,144 1,811 –
Bank borrowings 302,665 302,665 67,642 29,405 125,391 80,227

       

411,328 411,328 106,475 97,424 127,202 80,227
       

Carrying 

amount

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flow

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

More than 

1 year but 

less than 

2 years

More than 

2 years but 

less than 

5 years

More than 

5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2022

Trade payables 12,473 12,473 12,473 – – –

Other payables and accruals 40,787 40,787 40,787 – – –

Loans from a major shareholder 35,956 35,956 1,325 34,631 – –

Lease liabilities 5,936 5,936 1,805 1,384 2,302 445

Bank borrowings 263,438 263,438 224,469 17,638 15,860 5,471
       

358,590 358,590 280,859 53,653 18,162 5,916
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41.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of bank loans with a repayment on 

demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The 

amounts include interest payments computed using contractual rates. As a result, these 

amounts are greater than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the above 

maturity analysis. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not 

consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand immediate 

repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the 

scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

Maturity Analysis – bank loans subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Within
1 year or

on demand

More than
1 year but 
less than

2 years

More than
2 years but 

less than
5 years

More than
5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2023 302,665 302,665 67,642 29,405 125,391 80,227
       

      

31 December 2022 263,438 263,438 224,469 17,638 15,860 5,471
       

(c)	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings. Bank borrowings at 

floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group at the end of reporting period.

2023 2022

Effective 
interest 

rate

Effective 

interest 

rate  

% HK$’000 % HK$’000

Variable rate
Bank borrowings 4.243% 302,665 4.678% 263,438

Bank balances 2.283% (30,616) 1.331% (33,106)
     

Total net bank borrowings 272,049 230,332
     

It is estimated that as at 31 December 2023, a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points 

(2022: 100 basis points) in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would increase/

decrease the Group’s profit or loss after income tax and accumulated losses by HK$2,720,000 

(2022: HK$2,303,000).
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41.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)	 Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in the 

respective functional currencies of the group entities.

(e)	 Price risk – Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from unlisted equity investments 

classified as financial assets at FVTOCI as at 31 December 2023.

The management would manage its exposure arising from the investment by closely monitoring 

the performance of the respective unlisted equity investments and market conditions.

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 5% in the net asset value of 

this unlisted equity investment, with all other variables held constant, would have increased/

decreased the Group’s fair value reserve (other components of consolidated equity) by 

approximately HK$891,000 (2022: HK$661,000).

(f)	 Fair values estimation

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and based on relevant market 

information and information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subject in 

nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be 

determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

42.	 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognised at 31 

December 2023 and 2022 may be categorised as follows:

 

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost  

(including pledged bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents) 82,941 150,171

Investments held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 27 43

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

– equity investments 8,946 13,376
   

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 411,328 358,592
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42.	 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(Continued)

(a)	 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include cash and cash equivalents, pledged 

bank deposit, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, loans from a major 

shareholder, lease liabilities and bank borrowings.

Due to their short term nature, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank 

deposit, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, loans from a major shareholder 

and bank borrowings approximates to their fair value.

The fair value of lease liabilities have been determined by discounting the expected future cash 

flows using incremental borrowing rates.

(b)	 Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 

markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value 

measurement of level 2 and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the relationship between 

key observable inputs and fair value are set out below.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of 

fair value hierarchy:

Level 1:	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets;

Level 2:	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3:	 Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs).
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42.	 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(Continued)

(b)	 Financial instruments measured at fair value (Continued)

2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Investments held for trading

– listed 27 – – 27
Equity instruments designated 

at FVTOCI

– listed equity investment 43 – – 43
– unlisted equity investment – – 8,903 8,903

     

2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Investments held for trading

– listed 43 – – 43

Equity instruments designated 

at FVTOCI

– listed equity investment 156 – – 156

– unlisted equity investment – – 13,220 13,220
     

There were no transfers between levels during the year.
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42.	 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(Continued)

(b)	 Financial instruments measured at fair value (Continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value based on significant unobservable 

inputs (Level 3) are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investment
At 1 January 13,220 5,370
Additions 700 3,426
Change in fair value recognised in

other comprehensive income (5,017) 4,577
Exchange realignment – (153)
   

At 31 December 8,903 13,220
   

Information about level 3 fair value measurements:

Significant unobservable inputs
Relationship of unobservable inputs to  

fair value

Unlisted equity investment
Net assets value of the investee The higher the net assets value, the higher 

the fair value
Discount for lack of marketability The lower the discount for lack of marketability, 

the higher the fair value

Financial liabilities
Future price of the underlying equity 

instrument
The higher the future price, the higher the fair value

Risk-free rate that are specific to the 
market

The lower the risk-free rate, the higher the fair value

Volatility rates that are in line with those 
similar products

The higher the volatility rate, the higher the fair value
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43.	 HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 289 722
Interests in subsidiaries 296,953 308,227
Equity instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 43 156
    

Total non-current assets 297,285 309,105
    

Current assets
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 382 352
Cash and cash equivalents 24 61

    

Total current assets 406 413
    

Total assets 297,691 309,518
    

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 2,308 5,011
Amounts due to subsidiaries 158,160 158,237
Lease liabilities 273 453
Loan from a major shareholder 943 1,325

    

Total current liabilities 161,684 165,026
    

Net current liabilities (161,278) (164,613)
    

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – 273

    

– 273
    

NET ASSETS 136,007 144,219
    

Equity
Share capital 33 63,999 63,999
Reserves 44 72,008 80,220

    

TOTAL EQUITY 136,007 144,219
    

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 

March 2024.

Ma Zheng Yuan Geng
Director Director
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44.	 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Share 
premium 
account

Share 
option 

reserve

Financial assets 
at FVTOCI 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)     

Balance at 1 January 2022 714,488 24,066 649 (649,481) 89,722

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year – – (526) (8,976) (9,502)

Lapse of share options – (24,066) – 24,066 –
      

Balance at 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 714,488 – 123 (634,391) 80,220

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year – – (113) (8,099) (8,212)
      

Balance at 31 December 2023 714,488 – 10 (642,490) 72,008
      

Note:	 The share premium account of the Company includes: (i) the premium arising from issues of shares of the 

Company at a premium less share issue expenses; and (ii) the excess of the then combined net assets of 

the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company’s 

shares issued in exchange therefor.

Under the Companies Law (Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is distributable to 

the shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is 

proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due 

in the ordinary course of business.
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Location Use Tenure Attributable
interest of
the Group

1. Factory building No. 1

No. 6 Ya Yuan Road

Yao Ting District

Yichang City 

Hubei Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium 

term lease

100%

2. Factory building No. 2

No. 6 Ya Yuan Road

Yao Ting District

Yichang City 

Hubei Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium 

term lease

100%

3. Factory building No. 3

No. 6 Ya Yuan Road

Yao Ting District

Yichang City 

Hubei Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium 

term lease

100%

4. Factory building No. 4

No. 6 Ya Yuan Road

Yao Ting District

Yichang City 

Hubei Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium 

term lease

100%

5. Factory building No. 5

No. 6 Ya Yuan Road

Yao Ting District

Yichang City 

Hubei Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium 

term lease

100%

6. Factory building No. 6

No. 6 Ya Yuan Road

Yao Ting District

Yichang City 

Hubei Province, the PRC

Industrial Medium 

term lease

100%
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Financial Summary
 

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group, prepared for 

the last five years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group. This 

summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Results

Year ended 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 183,442 184,683 141,544 88,223 91,646

Other income and gains and losses 1,724 1,598 2,989 1,948 1,154

Cost of sales and operating expenses (193,632) (188,232) (145,273) (77,821) (121,067)
      

  Operating profit/(loss) (8,466) (1,951) (740) 12,350 (28,267)

  Finance costs (8,617) (6,360) (5,014) (3,499) (4,500)
      

  Loss before income tax (17,083) (8,311) (5,754) 8,851 (32,767)

  Income tax (2,542) (3,509) (2,505) 251 (466)
      

  Loss for the year (19,625) (11,820) (8,259) 9,102 (33,233)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
  Owners of the Company (17,500) (9,855) (7,941) 10,279 (31,260)

  Non-controlling interests (2,125) (1,965) (318) (1,177) (1,973)
      

(19,625) (11,820) (8,259) 9,102 (33,233)
      

Assets and Liabilities

31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 755,286 738,521 752,950 608,215 640,727

Total liabilities (454,672) (403,103) (386,757) (270,534) (271,167)
      

300,614 335,418 366,193 337,681 369,560
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